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Reasons Why Oral Argument Should Be Heard 

Plaintiffs-Appellants request oral argument and believe it would 

significantly aid this Court. This appeal presents important questions about 

the scope of Title IX, and oral argument would allow the Court to explore 

these issues with counsel. 
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Jurisdiction 

The district court had subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

and 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). On August 30, 2022, the district court granted 

summary judgment to defendants, disposing of all claims of all parties. 

Addendum (Add.) 48, 50. On September 29, 2022, plaintiffs timely filed a 

notice of appeal. 2 Joint Appendix (JA-2) 1008. This Court has jurisdiction 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

Issues Presented 

Under Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, schools may not 

exhibit deliberate indifference to severe and pervasive student-on-student 

harassment on the basis of sex. Davis v. Monroe Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 

629, 650 (1999). On appeal from the grant of summary judgment to 

defendants, the issues presented are whether a reasonable jury could find 

that: 

(i) three years of unrelenting homophobic and transphobic student-on-

student taunting and violence, resulting in diagnoses of post-traumatic 

stress disorder, clinical depression, and anxiety, constitute severe and 

pervasive harassment on the basis of sex; and 

(ii) a school exhibits deliberate indifference when it is aware of a 

persistent pattern of bullying yet takes no action to address it other than 

imposing isolated punishment in response to a single incident. 
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Statement of the Case 

For three of plaintiff MG’s formative years, between fourth and sixth 

grades, students at the Brooke East Boston school (Brooke) relentlessly 

disparaged him as “gay,” “a faggot,” “a bitch,” and “a girl.” He also suffered 

repeated physical attacks. When MG and his mother, Natasha Grace, 

complained about this sex-based harassment, school administrators 

rebuffed them. MG and his mother continued to report the incessant 

bullying, but Brooke dragged its feet. And when the school finally did act, 

the response—issuing detentions to (at most) two students in response to a 

single incident—was not targeted at correcting the broader hostile 

educational atmosphere. Instead, Brooke employees exacerbated MG’s 

distress by empowering his harassers and leaving him more vulnerable to 

the verbal abuse. Brooke’s unreasonable response left MG and his mother 

with no option but for MG to withdraw from Brooke. MG continues to suffer 

from post-traumatic stress disorder, clinical depression, and anxiety to this 

day. 

I. Factual background 

A. Fourth Grade (2015-16) 

The years-long harassment began when MG was in fourth grade, during 

his first year at Brooke. Add. 6; JA-2 547. At the start of the school year, MV—

a fellow fourth-grade student—set the tone for MG’s experience at Brooke 

by physically attacking MG and calling him “the B word,” “a girl,” and 

“gay.” Add. 8; JA-2 555-57, 559. MG did not identify as gay or as female, JA-
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1 340; JA-2 966, but MV began to use this language to harass him “[m]ultiple 

times a week,” JA-2 556. By the end of the school year, other students 

followed MV’s lead in calling MG names, and rumors began to swirl that 

MG was gay. JA-2 561. 

B. Fifth Grade (2016-17) 

By fifth grade, Brooke students were calling MG gay on a daily basis. JA-

2 822. One particularly upsetting instance occurred on a Brooke school bus. 

Ms. Reed, the bus monitor, asked another student why she did not like MG. 

JA-2 564. MG heard the student reply: “[B]ecause the whole school th[inks] 

[MG is] loud and gay.” JA-2 564-65; Add. 11; see JA-2 668. Ms. Reed then 

turned to MG and told him to “watch his flamboyant hands” and to control 

the “way he moves his hands” and the “way he talks.” Add. 11; JA-1 451. 

Trapped on the bus, MG was left to suffer alone. See JA-2 566. 

Yasenia Dudley, Brooke’s Dean of Students, “conducted an 

investigation” about the bus incident. See JA-2 667-68. But in response, no 

one at Brooke took any corrective action against the student. JA-2 669. 

Instead, Ms. Dudley spoke with Ms. Reed and concluded that when the 

student said she did not like MG because he was gay, she was simply 

expressing her opinion in response to Ms. Reed’s question. Id. 

On the heels of the harassment on the bus, a classroom incident 

exacerbated the bullying, and MG’s mental state deteriorated. After his fifth-

grade teacher, Ms. Nissan, learned about the harassment MG was suffering, 
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she left a book, Gracefully Grayson, on his desk. Add. 9-10; JA-1 340.The book 

describes a fictional child “who identifies as transgender.” Add. 9. After the 

book appeared on MG’s desk, “all the other kids” began “laughing and 

pointing at him,” and MG felt isolated and “like he just wanted to die.” JA-

2 821; Add. 10; see JA-2 568. The book incident fanned the flames of 

harassment; students who had been calling MG homophobic slurs thought 

Ms. Nissan’s actions confirmed the rumors they were spreading. See JA-2 

620. 

In response, Ms. Grace emailed Jon Clark about the pattern of harassment 

that MG was enduring. JA-1 340. Mr. Clark was the Co-Director of Brooke 

Charter Schools, a network of schools that includes Brooke. Add. 3. Ms. 

Grace’s email reported the Gracefully Grayson incident and complained that 

students had been spreading harmful rumors about MG’s sexual orientation 

and gender identity since fourth grade. JA-1 340. Mr. Clark, along with 

everyone else at Brooke, ignored the ongoing rumors and harassment and 

took no corrective action. JA-1 118. 

As MG’s mental health sharply declined in the wake of the Gracefully 

Grayson incident, he began seeing a therapist. See JA-2 817; JA-1 533. He 

described his increasing isolation, telling his therapist that he did not “care 

if [he] live[d] or die[d].” JA-2 841. The therapist diagnosed MG with post-

traumatic stress disorder, clinical depression, and anxiety. JA-2 813. These 

mental-health conditions affected his physical well-being. He suffered from 

sleep deprivation due to frequent nightmares and endless agony about “how 
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to cope at school,” JA-2 842, leading to mood swings and misbehavior in the 

classroom, including disobedience towards his teachers, JA-1 523; JA-2 812, 

843. MG also acted out at home. JA-2 812. He grew “mean and disrespectful” 

around his mother and his stepfather, had “frequent angry outbursts,” and 

struggled to communicate his feelings. JA-2 812-13. 

Meanwhile, MV continued to bully MG. During one recess period in 

January of fifth grade, MV kicked and punched MG in the head. Add. 12-13; 

JA-2 782, 819. Although MV was the aggressor, Brooke disciplined only MG 

for trying to defend himself. JA-2 570-71. 

Desperate to protect her son and fearful that Brooke’s ongoing failure to 

act would result in further harm, Ms. Grace filed a report with the Boston 

Police Department. JA-2 782; JA-1 537. In response, the Department’s Civil 

Rights Unit recommended that Brooke send a letter home to parents and 

have law enforcement officers speak to every class about bullying. JA-1 537-

38; JA-2 960. Brooke failed to implement these recommendations and did not 

undertake any schoolwide measures to address the atmosphere of 

harassment that school year. JA-1 537-39. 

Left unabated, the rumors continued, and in the final weeks of fifth grade, 

other students began passing a note during class that said MG was “gay and 

a faggot.” JA-2 843. After most of the class had read the note, a student threw 

it at MG. Id. But when MG raised his hand to tell the teacher what just 

occurred, the teacher told him he was being “disrespectful.” Id. Because of 
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the unchecked harassment, by the end of fifth grade, MG no longer enjoyed 

school. See JA-2 547-48. 

C. Sixth Grade (2017-18) 

As soon as he returned from summer break for sixth grade, MG was 

forced to confront in-school harassment once again. The situation became so 

toxic that MG’s best friend at Brooke stopped talking to him. JA-1 521-22. 

After Ms. Grace reported that the bullying was ongoing, Brooke declared 

that it could not address the on-campus harassment. See id.; JA-2 960. 

Administrators insisted that the rumor that MG was gay—the same rumor 

that they knew had run rampant at Brooke for nearly two years—“happened 

outside the school at a summer camp” and therefore was beyond Brooke’s 

control. JA-2 at 655, 960. 

Later that fall, school administrators finally met with Ms. Grace about the 

harassment. JA-2 960. The administrators claimed that they could do nothing 

about the rumors because Ms. Grace could not identify MG’s tormentors by 

name. See id. Ms. Grace nonetheless detailed the severity of MG’s suffering, 

including his statement that this sort of abuse “is why people kill their selfs.” 

Id. In response, the school purported to yield and promised that it would 

take the Police Department’s anti-harassment recommendations seriously—

over a year after their issuance. See id. 

The meeting changed nothing—the bullying continued. Even students 

outside MG’s grade joined in. Two older students called MG “Rainbow 
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Skittles,” JA-2 573, a derogatory term for someone who is gay, Add. 14. They 

made the comment in front of other students, who further humiliated MG 

by “laughing and making fun of” him. JA-2 879. Ms. Reed also overheard 

the comment and reported it to Ms. Dudley. JA-2 661. Ms. Dudley spoke to 

the harassers and their parents and issued a detention to at least one of the 

offenders. JA-1 535-36; JA-2 662; Add. 14. But this response had no effect on 

the pattern of bullying. JA-1 535. 

MG’s mental health, behavior, and school experience continued to decline 

throughout sixth grade. See Add. 15. His post-traumatic stress disorder, 

clinical depression, and anxiety persisted. See JA-2 856-87. The anxiety 

disorder began to require frequent bathroom trips, causing MG to miss 

instructional time. JA-2 626-27. School faculty yelled at MG and disciplined 

him for being outside the classroom. JA-2 627. MG also suffered from 

nightmares so vivid that he would wake up “unable to breathe.” JA-2 862. 

As MG struggled to cope, he acted out, arriving late and talking during class, 

drawing attention to himself, struggling to comply with teachers’ 

instructions, and generally souring his relationship with his sixth-grade 

teacher, Ms. Freund. Add. 15. Although MG was seldom written up for 

misbehavior in fourth and fifth grade, by sixth grade, he was a much more 

frequent target of Brooke’s disciplinary measures, especially from Ms. 

Freund. JA-2 624. 

MV continued to bully MG in sixth grade, including a physical attack on 

a class field trip at the end of the year. JA-1 489-90. The final straw for MG 
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occurred the next day. See JA-1 500-03. Those involved offered conflicting 

accounts, but in MG’s telling, Ms. Freund threw a stack of post-it notes at his 

face. See Add. 17-18; JA-1 507-08. MG called his mother, who drove to the 

school. JA-1 500-01. After Ms. Grace arrived, Ms. Dudley gave her 

permission to go to MG’s classroom, where she discussed the incident with 

Ms. Freund. JA-1 at 477, 500-02. Ms. Freund claims that Ms. Grace yelled and 

told Ms. Freund this would be her last day teaching, JA-1 178, but Ms. Grace 

recalls their conversation was calm if unproductive, JA-1 476-78. The 

conversation confirmed Ms. Grace’s fears that MG was not safe at Brooke. 

JA-1 511. 

In light of these events and MV’s preceding physical attack on MG, and 

after years of watching her complaints about her son’s suffering fall on deaf 

ears at Brooke, Ms. Grace had reached the end of her rope. She retained an 

attorney, Add. 18, who wrote a letter to Brooke demanding that the school 

take specific actions to ensure MG’s physical, mental, and educational well-

being, JA-2 748-53. Brooke made no attempt to comply. Instead, it concluded 

that Ms. Grace’s concerns were unfounded and issued a no-trespass order 

prohibiting her from entering school grounds. See JA-1 387-88, 390. Barred 

from campus with no assurance of MG’s safety, Ms. Grace withdrew MG 

from Brooke. Add. 20. 

After leaving Brooke, MG had a different experience at his new school, 

Roxbury Prep. At first, MG was bullied and called “gay.” JA-2 549. Based on 

his experience at Brooke, MG was initially distrustful of school officials and 
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did not report the matter to the school. JA-2 550. But as soon as he told the 

school about the harassment, the administration intervened to ensure that 

the harassment ceased. Id. 

II. Procedural background 

Ms. Grace, on behalf of herself, MG, and his siblings, sued the Board of 

Trustees for Brooke East Boston and the Brooke School Foundation in 

Massachusetts Superior Court. JA-1 16. Plaintiffs brought claims under Title 

IX, the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and 

Massachusetts state law. JA-1 25-40. Defendants removed the case to federal 

court. JA-1 11.1 

Defendants moved for summary judgment on all claims. ECF 44 at 2. On 

the Title IX claim, defendants first argued that Brooke could not be held 

liable because it had not acted with deliberate indifference. Instead, Brooke 

maintained that it had responded to “allegations of peer-on-peer bullying by 

investigating and disciplining student offenders” and concluded MG did not 

experience “bullying.” ECF 51 at 9. Second, despite conceding that MG was 

a victim of “homosexual epithets,” defendants argued that this harassment 

was not based on sex. Id. at 10-14. Instead, they contended that MG’s 

 
1 The Board of Trustees governs the Brooke Charter Network’s campuses 

(including Brooke East Boston), and the Brooke School Foundation is a 
nonprofit fundraising entity that financially supports the schools in the 
network. Add. 3. 
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harassers were “mere[ly] express[ing]” an “opinion” about MG or acting out 

of personal, rather than discriminatory, animus. Id. at 12-14. 

In a lengthy report and recommendation, the magistrate judge 

recommended that defendants’ motion for summary judgment on the Title 

IX claim be denied. Add. 46-47. First, the magistrate determined that a 

reasonable factfinder could conclude that Brooke acted with deliberate 

indifference in response to the harassment. Id. at 29 The magistrate then 

found that the harassment MG suffered “was not simply tinged with 

offensive sexual connotations” or motivated by “some other characteristic 

that is not protected by Title IX” but rather “arose from sexual stereotyping.” 

Id. at 32-33 (internal citation omitted). 

Defendants filed objections to the report and recommendation. They 

argued that the magistrate relied on inadmissible hearsay and 

unauthenticated evidence. See JA-2 999. 

The district court did not address defendants’ objections but overruled 

the report and recommendation on other grounds. In a three-page order, it 

held that plaintiffs failed to demonstrate “a triable issue as to deliberate 

indifference.” Add. 49. Without citing the record or any examples, the 

district court ruled that Brooke took “timely and plausibly reasonable 

measures to investigate and end the claimed harassment.” Id. The district 

court did not address the evidence indicating that Brooke made no attempt 

to quell the underlying pattern of harassment against MG. Nor did it 
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disagree with the magistrate judge’s conclusion that the severe pattern of 

harassment was sex based. 

The district court granted summary judgment on all claims. Add. 50. 

Plaintiffs appeal only the dismissal of MG’s Title IX claim. 

Standard of Review 

This Court “review[s] de novo a district court’s decision to grant summary 

judgment.” Doe v. Trs. of Bos. Coll., 892 F.3d 67, 79 (1st Cir. 2018). “Summary 

judgment is warranted if the record, construed in the light most flattering to 

the nonmovant, presents ‘no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the 

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.’” Theidon v. Harvard 

Univ., 948 F.3d 477, 494 (1st Cir. 2020) (citation omitted). 

Summary of Argument 

Title IX forbids schools that receive federal funding from exhibiting 

deliberate indifference to severe and pervasive sex-based harassment. MG 

has produced evidence that creates a genuine dispute of fact about whether 

he suffered actionable harassment on the basis of sex and whether Brooke’s 

response amounted to deliberate indifference. 

I. For three years, MG endured severe and pervasive harassment. His 

classmates unrelentingly mocked him for being gay and transgender. 

During fifth grade MG was called “gay” and a “faggot” on a daily basis. And 

the harassment went beyond verbal attacks. One of the students who first 

called MG gay also physically attacked him each of his three years at Brooke. 
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The sum of this bullying caused MG to suffer post-traumatic stress disorder, 

clinical depression, and anxiety, and interfered with his education. It 

ultimately drove him to leave Brooke. 

This pattern of abuse was harassment on the basis of sex. MG’s 

classmates’ use of homophobic epithets and transphobic insults was self-

evidently harassment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity. 

And as the Supreme Court’s decision in Bostock v. Clayton County teaches, 

harassment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity is 

harassment on the basis of sex. Further, against the backdrop of this sex-

based verbal harassment, a jury could conclude that the physical attacks on 

MG were also motivated at least in part by his sex. 

The harassment MG suffered was also sex based for the independent 

reason that his peers targeted him because of his failure to conform with 

gender stereotypes. One need look no further than students’ repeated 

comments that MG was “a girl” to conclude that his classmates harassed him 

because he failed to meet their expectations of masculinity. 

II. Beginning in fifth grade and up until he left the school, MG and his 

mother repeatedly told Brooke staff that other students were calling MG 

“gay” and a “faggot.” Despite knowing that other students were harassing 

MG on a near-daily basis, Brooke acted like its duty was to help MG come 

to terms with other students’ perception of him, not to remedy the bullying. 

On only one occasion did the school discipline students responsible for an 

instance of verbal harassment, and its only schoolwide attempt to address 
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the problem was to send a generic letter to Brooke parents. These ineffectual 

measures empowered MG’s harassers, leaving him more vulnerable to 

abuse. A jury could find that Brooke’s unreasonable response amounted to 

deliberate indifference. 

Argument 

A peer-on-peer Title IX claim requires a student to show that (1) the 

student suffered severe and pervasive harassment at the hands of other 

students (2) on the basis of sex, and that the (3) school was on notice of the 

harassment but was (4) deliberately indifferent to it. Doe v. Pawtucket Sch. 

Dep’t, 969 F.3d 1, 7 (1st Cir. 2020) (citing Davis v. Monroe Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 

526 U.S. 629, 644-46, 650 (1999)). 

MG faced severe and pervasive sexual harassment when he was subjected 

to three years of relentless sex-based epithets and intermittent physical 

attacks that resulted in psychological trauma and his departure from the 

school. Though Brooke was regularly made aware of this harassment, the 

school only once disciplined any students and otherwise failed to take timely 

or meaningful action to stem the broader flood of verbal harassment. In view 

of this record, a jury could conclude that Brooke responded to known sex-

based harassment with deliberate indifference. 
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I. MG experienced severe and pervasive sex-based harassment 
throughout his time at Brooke. 

A. MG faced severe and pervasive harassment. 

Title IX prohibits sexual harassment that is severe and pervasive enough 

to disturb a student’s access to educational opportunities. Morgan v. Town of 

Lexington, 823 F.3d 737, 745 (1st Cir. 2016) (citing Frazier v. Fairhaven Sch. 

Comm., 276 F.3d 52, 65-66 (1st Cir. 2002)). Courts consider the “constellation 

of surrounding circumstances,” including the frequency and offensiveness 

of the harassment, the number of perpetrators, whether the conduct 

consisted of isolated incidents or had a “systemic effect,” and its impact on 

the victim’s mental health. Davis v. Monroe Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 

651-52 (1999) (citation omitted); see Doe v. Pawtucket Sch. Dep’t, 969 F.3d 1, 10 

(1st Cir. 2020); Morgan, 823 F.3d at 745-46. Because the inquiry is fact-

intensive, it is “particularly unsuited for summary judgment” and “best left 

to the jury.” Doe v. Sch. Dist. No. 1, 970 F.3d 1300, 1304, 1311-12 (10th Cir. 

2020) (citation omitted). Accordingly, courts have concluded that a 

reasonable jury could find that extended, continuous exposure to objectively 

offensive sex-based epithets and insults qualifies as severe and pervasive 

harassment. Id. at 1312 (five months); Thomas v. Town of Chelmsford, 267 F. 

Supp. 3d 279, 308 (D. Mass. 2017) (one school year); Harrington v. City of 

Attleboro, 2018 WL 475000, at *6-7 (D. Mass. Jan. 17, 2018) (four school years). 

MG endured severe and pervasive harassment when he was subjected to 

three years of widespread, objectively offensive bullying that caused 
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emotional anguish and forced him to leave Brooke. The harassment began 

in fourth grade. At first, he was bullied “multiple times a week” by MV. By 

the end of the year, the verbal harassment was omnipresent, and MG felt like 

the whole school was talking about him behind his back. JA-2 555-56, 559, 

561. 

In fifth grade, too, MG’s classmates called him “gay” and a “faggot” on a 

daily basis and passed demeaning notes about him in class. Add. 13; JA-2 

843. MG’s classmates’ view of his sexual orientation and gender identity 

became such a common topic of conversation that it reached the faculty. Ms. 

Reed discussed the subject openly with a student on the bus, and Ms. Nissan 

exacerbated the situation by publicly providing MG with a book about 

gender identity. Add. 9-11; JA-2 618-20. In response to this hostile 

environment, MG began therapy. He was diagnosed with depression, 

anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder. E.g., JA-2 607-09, 813-14, 817-18. 

The symptoms of these conditions caused him to miss class time and 

strained his relationship with his teachers and family. JA-2 626-27, 812-14; 

Add. 15-16. 

Sixth grade brought more of the same. The rumors that MG was gay 

continued. Add. 13-14. They grew so ubiquitous that older students outside 

his grade learned about them. Id. at 14. And the persistent pattern of bullying 

continued to impair his ability to function in every aspect of his life. E.g., JA-

2 869, 873, 875, 881. 
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Brooke’s only challenges to the magistrate judge’s recap of this severe and 

pervasive harassment were evidentiary. The school objected that the 

magistrate judge relied on inadmissible evidence by citing MG’s therapist’s 

notes and certain portions of Ms. Grace’s deposition testimony. JA-2 1000-

04. Each contention fails. 

First, Brooke insisted that MG’s therapist’s notes were not authenticated. 

JA-2 1001. But as Joseph v. Lincare, Inc., 989 F.3d 147 (1st Cir. 2021), 

demonstrates, the notes present no authentication problem. When there is a 

question about whether evidence is authentic, the court may require the 

party offering the evidence to prove its authenticity. See id. at 155-56; United 

States v. Torres-Correa, 23 F.4th 129, 133-34 (1st Cir. 2022); Fed. R. Evid. 901. 

The court must then determine whether the record would allow a reasonable 

person to conclude that “the evidence is what it purports to be,” but need 

not “rule out all possibilities inconsistent with authenticity.” Torres-Correa, 

23 F.4th at 133 (citation omitted). This Court has presumed that documents 

are authentic when they bear indicia of reliability and the party opposing 

admission offers no reason to doubt their legitimacy, particularly if the 

opponent of the evidence tries to “play[] ‘gotcha’” by waiting to challenge it 

until long after it is produced. Joseph, 989 F.3d at 156-57. MG’s therapist’s 

notes plainly are what they purport to be: they appear on the therapist’s 

time- and date-stamped letterhead and contain an electronic signature. E.g., 

JA-2 812-15, 817-54, 856-87. See Savage v. Fed. Express Corp., 856 F.3d 440, 451 

n.2 (6th Cir. 2017) (letterhead is sufficient to establish authenticity). Brooke 
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has pointed to no reason why they might be inauthentic. And the school 

waited to challenge the notes until after the magistrate judge relied on them 

in recommending the denial of summary judgment. They are admissible. 

Second, Brooke challenged the notes describing MG’s report of his 

classmates’ harassment as inadmissible hearsay-within-hearsay-within 

hearsay. But the school is wrong again. Brooke argued that the statements 

that MG relayed to his therapist—his classmates’ assertions that he is “gay” 

and “a faggot”—supply the first layer of hearsay. JA-2 1000-03. This is not 

hearsay because MG’s classmates’ out-of-court statements are not offered for 

their truth—no one is seeking to prove that MG is or is not gay—but for their 

effect on MG. See Fed. R. Evid. 801(c)(2); Ira Green, Inc. v. Mil. Sales & Serv. 

Co., 775 F.3d 12, 18-19 (1st Cir. 2014). And what Brooke argues supply the 

second two layers of hearsay—MG’s description of the harassment and the 

therapist’s documentation of his account—fall under the hearsay exception 

for statements made for medical diagnosis or treatment. Fed. R. Evid. 803(4); 

see Danaipour v. McLarey, 386 F.3d 289, 297 (1st Cir. 2004). 

Brooke also challenged Ms. Grace’s deposition testimony, asserting that 

the bus monitor’s statement that MG should “watch his flamboyant hands” 

is inadmissible hearsay. JA-2 1003-04. Although MG’s out-of-court statement 

to his mother that Ms. Reed told him to “watch his flamboyant hands” is 

hearsay, MG could “present [Ms. Reed’s statement] in a form that would be 

admissible in evidence” through his own testimony at trial. Fed. R. Civ. P. 

56(c)(2). 
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True, this Court has previously stated that “hearsay evidence cannot be 

considered on summary judgment.” Dávila v. Corporación de P.R. Para la 

Difusión Pública, 498 F.3d 9, 17 (1st Cir. 2007). But in 2010, the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure were amended to include Rule 56(c), and the Advisory 

Committee Notes expressly contemplate that the proponent of evidence may 

defend its use at summary judgment by “explain[ing] the admissible form 

that is anticipated” for use at trial. Advisory Comm.’s Notes on 2010 

Amendment to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56. In the years since, courts have held that 

hearsay may be offered at summary judgment if the facts could be 

established through admissible evidence at trial. E.g., Maurer v. Independence 

Town, 870 F.3d 380, 384 (5th Cir. 2017); Jones v. UPS Ground Freight, 683 F.3d 

1283, 1293-94 (11th Cir. 2012). Though this Court has not determined the 

amendment’s precise effect, it has suggested that these other courts have the 

correct view of Rule 56’s requirements. See Joseph, 989 F.3d at 155 & n.4. 

Regardless, other evidence corroborates the key aspects of the bus 

incident. MG testified that a student told Ms. Reed that no one liked him 

because he was “loud and gay,” and Ms. Dudley confirmed that the school 

took no disciplinary action against the student. See JA-2 565-66, 667-71. These 

events, coupled with the continuous stream of epithets MG faced, led to 

MG’s departure from Brooke and closed the door on a three-year period 

where his “life at school” felt like “a daily battle.” JA-2 827. With or without 

the “flamboyant hands” comment, a reasonable jury could readily conclude 

that MG suffered severe and pervasive harassment. 
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B. MG’s peers taunted, harassed, and stereotyped him on the 
basis of sex. 

MG’s classmates harassed him on the basis of sexual orientation and 

gender identity when they called him “gay” and “a faggot” and teased him 

for wanting to be a girl. And harassment on the basis of sexual orientation 

and gender identity constitutes harassment on the basis of sex. Thus, the 

homophobic and transphobic harassment MG faced was “on the basis of 

sex.” 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a). That MG was teased for failing to meet sex-based 

stereotypes further confirms that he was harassed on the basis of sex. 

1. Homophobic and transphobic epithets are necessarily 
harassment on the basis of sex. 

a. The pejorative use of anti-gay and anti-transgender slurs and insults is 

necessarily harassment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender 

identity. See Roy v. Correct Care Sols., LLC, 914 F.3d 52, 63 (1st Cir. 2019); 

Thomas v. Town of Chelmsford, 267 F. Supp. 3d 279, 307 (D. Mass. 2017). Thus, 

someone who denigrates a coworker as a “fem” and a “queer” harasses them 

on the basis of sexual orientation, see Zarda v. Altitude Express, Inc., 883 F.3d 

100, 121-22 (2d Cir. 2018) (opinion of Katzmann, C.J.), as does a group of 

students who refer to a peer as a “dyke” and a “fag,” Harrington v. City of 

Attleboro, 2018 WL 475000, at *2-3, *5 (D. Mass. Jan. 17, 2018). These 

circumstances are no different from how, when a co-worker calls an 

employee a “bitch,” that insult is “connected to her sex” and constitutes sex 

discrimination. Roy, 914 F.3d at 63. Regardless of the harassers’ “particular 
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and subjective motives,” by choosing epithets that degrade a victim’s sexual 

orientation or gender identity, they have harassed on the basis of those 

characteristics. Id. 

Under Title IX, harassment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender 

identity is harassment “on the basis of sex.” 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a). Here, the 

Supreme Court has been emphatic: “it is impossible to discriminate against 

a person for being homosexual or transgender without discriminating 

against that individual based on sex.” Bostock v. Clayton County, 140 S. Ct. 

1731, 1741 (2020). And though the Court made that statement in the Title VII 

context, this Court borrows its interpretation of Title IX’s “on the basis of 

sex” language from precedents interpreting Title VII’s near-identical clause. 

See, e.g., Morgan v. Town of Lexington, 823 F.3d 737, 745 (1st Cir. 2016) (citing 

Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs., 523 U.S. 75, 80 (1998)); Frazier v. Fairhaven 

Sch. Comm., 276 F.3d 52, 66-67 (1st Cir. 2002); Wills v. Brown Univ., 184 F.3d 

20, 25 (1st Cir. 1999) (citing Meritor Sav. Bank v. Vinson, 477 U.S. 57 (1986)); 

see also Franklin v. Gwinnett Cnty. Pub. Schs., 503 U.S. 60, 75 (1992). 

Unsurprisingly, other circuits have already recognized that harassment 

on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity constitutes harassment 

on the basis of sex under Title IX. E.g., Grimm v. Gloucester Cnty. Sch. Bd., 972 

F.3d 586, 616-17 (4th Cir. 2020); Doe v. Snyder, 28 F.4th 103, 113-14 (9th Cir. 

2022). And at least one district court in this Circuit has reached the same 

conclusion with respect to sexual orientation. See Harrington, 2018 WL 

475000, at *5. 
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Applying this straightforward logic, MG suffered harassment on the basis 

of sex. His classmates targeted him by calling him “gay,” “faggot,” “girl,” 

and “skittles.” Add. 8, 13, 14. The homophobic and transphobic abuse 

amounted to harassment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender 

identity, and it therefore amounted to harassment on the basis of sex. 

b. The sex-based insults that MG’s classmates levied at him infected the 

entire course of bullying that he suffered, including the physical attacks. 

When facially neutral harassment occurs in the context of a larger pattern of 

explicitly sex-based harassment, a reasonable jury could conclude that the 

entire abusive course of conduct is sex based. O’Rourke v. City of Providence, 

235 F.3d 713, 729-30 (1st Cir. 2001); see Johnson v. Spencer Press of Me., 364 F.3d 

368, 376-77 (1st Cir. 2004). In O’Rourke, for example, this Court explained that 

“incidents of nonsexual conduct” like “work sabotage, exclusion, denial of 

support, and humiliation” can be considered part of a hostile sex-based 

environment. 235 F.3d at 729-30. 

That rule sweeps in the physical attacks against MG. The attacks were 

perpetrated by MV, the same bully who instigated the verbal harassment. 

And MV physically and verbally bullied MG during a similar time frame, 

confirming that the two forms of abuse were interrelated. JA-2 555-59; Add. 

6, 8, 12. “Given the consistency of the harassment that specifically invoked” 

MG’s gender identity and sexual orientation, “a jury could easily … 

conclude[] that the underlying motivation” for the physical attacks was his 

sex. Johnson, 364 F.3d at 376. 
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c. Brooke argued below that the students’ use of homophobic and 

transphobic slurs was not sex based because their choice of language was 

motivated by personal animus, not discriminatory intent. ECF 51 at 13-14. It 

relied on Wolfe v. Fayetteville School District, 648 F.3d 860 (8th Cir. 2011), 

which held that a jury could find that explicit homophobic taunting is not 

“on the basis of sex” if the jurors conclude that the “underlying motivation” 

for the harassment is something other than “hostility toward the person’s 

gender.” Id. at 867. Applying that principle, the Eighth Circuit upheld a 

verdict for the school district, finding that the jury reasonably could have 

found that the harassment was not sex based but instead a response to the 

plaintiff’s own mistreatment of a student who suffered from cerebral palsy. 

Id. at 862-63, 866-68. But two problems doom Brooke’s reliance on Wolfe. 

First, Wolfe conflicts with this Court’s precedent. As explained above (at 

19-20), Roy holds that a harasser who uses epithets that inherently degrade 

someone’s sex has engaged in sex-based harassment, regardless of a 

harasser’s “particular and subjective motives.” Roy, 914 F.3d at 63. Taken 

together with the Supreme Court’s recent pronouncement that sexual-

orientation-based and gender-identity-based harassment are necessarily 

sex-based harassment, Bostock, 140 S. Ct. at 1744, Roy precludes this Court 

from following Wolfe. 

Second, even if the use of words like “fag” and “skittles” did not 

automatically qualify as harassment on the basis of sex, Wolfe would still not 

support Brooke’s position. That case affirmed a jury verdict. Wolfe, 648 F.3d 
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at 862. This case is on appeal from the grant of summary judgment. And 

ample evidence would allow a reasonable jury to find that, in this case, MG’s 

classmates were motivated to use words like “fag,” “gay,” and “girl” by 

MG’s perceived sexual orientation and gender identity. For example, when 

MG’s classmate was asked for her opinion of MG on the bus, she responded 

that she did not like him “because” he was “loud and gay.” JA-2 564-65 

(emphasis added). Thus, even if circuit precedent did not foreclose Brooke’s 

argument, the school’s contention would still fail on its own terms. 

2. MG was also harassed because he failed to conform with 
gender stereotypes. 

Additionally, MG was singled out on the basis of sex when Brooke 

students harassed him based on his failure to conform to “stereotypes 

attributable to [his] gender.” Morales-Cruz v. Univ. of P.R., 676 F.3d 220, 224-

25 (1st Cir. 2012). This harassment—which was based on a failure to conform 

to traditional sex stereotypes—was sex-based harassment. See id.; Roberts v. 

Glenn Indus. Grp., Inc., 998 F.3d 111, 120-21 (4th Cir. 2021) (citing Bostock, 140 

S. Ct. at 1741-43); Kappa Alpha Theta Fraternity, Inc. v. Harvard Univ., 397 F. 

Supp. 3d 97, 107-08 (D. Mass. 2019). 

Students harassed MG by questioning his masculinity when they referred 

to him as “the B word,” “a girl,” and “skittles.” Add. 8, 14. And the behavior 

of Brooke’s faculty indicates that they understood that the student body was 

harassing MG because he did not satisfy gender norms. On one occasion, 

Ms. Reed, the bus monitor, told MG to “watch his flamboyant hands,” “the 



 

 
24 

way he moves his hands,” and “the way he talks.” JA-1 451. Later, after 

hearing that MG’s peers were harassing him for his perceived sexual 

orientation and gender identity, MG’s fifth-grade teacher, Ms. Nissan, 

suggested he read a book about a transgender child. Add. 9-10; JA-1 342-43. 

Given this evidence, a jury could conclude that MG was harassed because of 

his failure to meet gender stereotypes, which itself qualifies as sex 

discrimination under Title IX. 

II. Brooke was on notice of the harassment MG suffered and responded 
with deliberate indifference. 

A. School officials with the power to address the harassment were 
repeatedly informed that MG was suffering. 

For a school to be liable for sexual harassment under Title IX, an 

appropriate person must have “actual knowledge” of it. Davis v. Monroe 

Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 650 (1999). A school official qualifies as an 

“appropriate person” if she has the power to discipline the harasser and 

remedy the situation. Gebser v. Lago Vista Indep. Sch. Dist., 524 U.S. 274, 290 

(1998); see Davis, 526 U.S. at 650. 

Throughout MG’s time at Brooke, Jon Clark served as the Co-Director of 

Brooke Charter Schools, JA-1 92, and Yasenia Dudley served as Brooke’s 

Dean of Students, JA-2 629. In these roles, Mr. Clark and Ms. Dudley had the 

authority to discipline individual students, conduct investigations into 

alleged harassment, and implement policies to address harassment on a 
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schoolwide basis. JA-1 93; JA-2 629. Both were appropriate persons for MG 

and Ms. Grace to approach with harassment complaints. 

Mr. Clark and Ms. Dudley were on notice of the bullying MG was 

suffering from early in his fifth-grade year until he left the school at the end 

of sixth grade. Mr. Clark first learned that other students had been calling 

MG gay and transgender after he received an email from Ms. Grace in 

December of MG’s fifth-grade year. Add. 9; JA-1 340. Mr. Clark also learned 

about the Gracefully Grayson incident and the distress that the rumors were 

causing MG. See JA-1 340; JA-2 735-36. Ms. Dudley first learned about the 

rumors in the fall of MG’s fifth-grade year and continued to hear about them 

from MG, faculty, and Ms. Grace. See Add. 10-11, 13-14; JA-2 651-52, 661-62, 

667, 672. 

B. Brooke acted clearly unreasonably when it failed to take any 
measures designed to address the schoolwide harassment and 
responded only to a single instance of verbal abuse. 

A school is deliberately indifferent to student-on-student harassment 

when its response is “clearly unreasonable in light of the known 

circumstances.” Davis v. Monroe Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 648 (1999). 

Failing to respond to harassment, Hayut v. State Univ. of N.Y., 352 F.3d 733, 

751 (2d Cir. 2003), responding only “after a lengthy and unjustified delay,” 

id. (quotation marks and citation omitted), implementing only “half-hearted 

measures,” Zeno v. Pine Plains Cent. Sch. Dist., 702 F.3d 655, 670 (2d Cir. 2012), 

and failing to act further after attempted corrective measures prove 
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inadequate, Wills v. Brown Univ., 184 F.3d 20, 26 (1st Cir. 1999), constitute 

unreasonable responses to known harassment. A school is deliberately 

indifferent when its unreasonable response causes a student “to undergo 

harassment or make[s] them liable or vulnerable to it.” Davis, 526 U.S. at 645 

(quotation marks and citation omitted). 

For nearly two years, Brooke received complaints from MG and his 

mother that other students were calling MG “gay” and a “faggot” on a near-

daily basis. Rather than trying to rectify the situation, Brooke administrators 

treated the harassment as MG’s problem, not theirs. The school ignored 

numerous complaints and disciplined at most two students for a single 

incident of verbal harassment. Not until MG’s sixth-grade year did Brooke 

finally agree to implement any of the anti-harassment measures 

recommended by the Boston Police Department, and even then it failed to 

follow through on all of its promised interventions This inaction, in 

conjunction with Brooke staff’s misguided efforts that reinforced the bullies’ 

views of MG, left MG more vulnerable to harassment. 

1. As a general rule, Brooke did not attempt to stop the verbal harassment. 

When Brooke learned in fifth grade that MV and other students had started 

calling MG “gay” and “a fag” the year before, the school made no effort to 

intervene. See JA-2 561, 731, 966. While administrators took belated, limited 

steps to physically separate MG and MV and mitigate the physical abuse, 

JA-1 496, they allowed the verbal harassment to continue unabated through 

fifth grade, with students hurling homophobic slurs at MG on a daily basis, 
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Add. 13; JA-2 822, 827. Instead of stepping in to stop the harassers, Brooke’s 

strategy was directed at MG. Faculty members met with him privately, told 

him to watch his “flamboyant hands” so that other students would like him 

more, Add. 11; JA-1 451, and gave him a book depicting a child grappling 

with their transgender identity, see JA-1 340. But they did nothing to address 

the sources of the bullying—other students. 

The school maintained its practice of ignoring the harassment in sixth 

grade, when MG and his mother reported that the bullying had not abated. 

See JA-2 960. This time, the school deflected the blame, claiming that nothing 

could be done because the harassment “happened outside the school at a 

summer camp.” JA-2 655. But the school knew otherwise because, by that 

point, MG had been reporting the same harassment for a full year. See JA-2 

966. And in any event, Brooke may not reasonably claim that it is powerless 

to tackle student-on-student bullying that begins elsewhere when the 

bullying follows the victim back to campus. This evidence of Brooke’s 

inaction would allow a jury to find deliberate indifference. See Thomas v. 

Town of Chelmsford, 267 F. Supp. 3d 279, 307-08 (D. Mass. 2017) (finding the 

plaintiffs had “presented evidence of pervasive sexual taunting sufficient” 

to state a Title IX claim when they complained of extensive verbal student-

on-student harassment following an off-campus assault). 

2. Even when the school attempted to take remedial measures, its efforts 

were wholly inadequate (and conspicuously undocumented). The school 

says that it investigated a “handful” of incidents of on-campus bullying 
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during MG’s fifth- and sixth-grade years. ECF 51 at 1. But the only evidence 

supporting this contention is Ms. Dudley’s testimony that she “spoke to all 

of the parties involved” after the bus incident, that "there was a conversation 

that was had” with Ms. Reed, and that Ms. Dudley “investigate[d]” the sixth-

grade rumors until she learned that they (supposedly) originated at summer 

camp. JA-2 668-71, 652. Ms. Dudley insisted there “should be” a record of 

her investigations, JA-1 155, but Brooke did not produce one in discovery. 

Even assuming this “half-hearted” questioning occurred, it does not amount 

to a reasonable effort to get to the root of the problem. See Zeno, 702 F.3d at 

670 (holding that a jury could find that a school district was deliberately 

indifferent to years of racial harassment because the actions that it took 

“could not have plausibly changed the culture of bias … or stopped the 

harassment”). 

In the fall of MG’s sixth-grade year, after two years of harassment, Brooke 

finally tried to placate Ms. Grace by telling her that the school would follow 

the recommendations that the Boston Police Department had provided the 

prior year. JA-2 960. Brooke has produced no evidence that the school kept 

its promise to host a schoolwide seminar on sexual harassment or have 

officers go classroom-by-classroom instructing students about bullying. Id.; 

JA-1 537-38. At most, the record suggests that Brooke may have sent a letter 

out to parents. JA-2 960. But even assuming a letter was sent, a jury could 

conclude that a generic communication describing the bullying problem was 

not actually “reasonably calculated to end” it. Zeno, 702 F.3d at 669. And the 
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“unjustified delay” in implementing any measures that the school may have 

pursued provides further reason to conclude that a genuine dispute of fact 

exists over whether Brooke acted with deliberate indifference. Id. at 666 

(citation omitted). 

The school’s lone documented response to MG’s verbal harassment 

occurred in winter 2018. Two students called MG “skittles” within earshot 

of Ms. Reed, and either one or both received a single detention. JA-1 125-26, 

535-36, JA-2 662-63; Add. 14. Notably, the incident highlighted the 

ramifications of Brooke’s complacency: the students who called MG 

“skittles” were not in his grade, illustrating how far the harassment had 

spread. Add. 14. And this lone, ineffectual instance of discipline does not 

excuse Brooke’s broader pattern of inaction. Harrington v. City of Attleboro, 

2018 WL 475000, at *7 (D. Mass. Jan. 17, 2018) (concluding that a jury could 

find deliberate indifference even when the school took some action because 

“some instances of harassment in the record were met with no response at 

all”). The school did not address the broader pattern of misconduct and, 

unsurprisingly, the harassment continued apace. JA-1 536. 

3. Brooke’s reliance below on Porto v. Town of Tewksbury, 488 F.3d 67 

(1st Cir. 2007), was misplaced. In Porto, the plaintiffs claimed that the school 

violated Title IX when it failed to prevent their child from being sexually 

assaulted by another student. Id. at 71-73. The school had previously 

responded to periodic sexual harassment between the two students by 

deploying remedial measures proportionate to the misbehavior. Id. at 73-74. 
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After months passed without incident, it appeared that the school’s actions 

had resolved the situation. Id. at 70-71, 74-75. Out of the blue, however, the 

other student sexually assaulted the plaintiffs’ child. Id. at 75. This Court 

ruled that the school was not deliberately indifferent in failing to prevent the 

subsequent assault because it “was not a known or obvious consequence of 

the school’s inaction.” Id. (quotation marks omitted). 

Porto provides no help to Brooke. For three years, MG suffered 

continuous, consistent harassment. He enjoyed no months-long reprieve, 

and the ongoing and repetitive nature of the bullying meant every 

subsequent incident was easily foreseeable. 

The far better analogy is Vance v. Spencer County Public School District, 231 

F.3d 253 (6th Cir. 2000). There, a student suffered a multi-year pattern of 

verbal and physical harassment beginning in sixth grade. Id. at 256-57. Other 

students called her “gay” on numerous occasions and verbally and 

physically harassed her. Id. After learning of these incidents, school officials 

spoke to the perpetrators and provided schoolwide presentations on sexual 

harassment. Id. Despite these efforts, the court found that the school was 

deliberately indifferent because “[a]lthough ‘talking to the offenders’ 

produced no results, [the school] continued to employ this ineffective 

method.” Id. at 262; see also Wills, 184 F.3d at 26; Doe v. Sch. Dist. No. 1, 970 

F.3d 1300, 1314 (10th Cir. 2020) (“Failure of authorities to try something else 

can show deliberate indifference.”). 
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The harassment that MG suffered and Brooke’s inaction mirror the events 

in Vance. Other students called MG “gay” and “faggot” throughout his three 

years at Brooke, and he was physically assaulted on numerous occasions by 

another student. And Brooke used similarly ineffective anti-harassment 

strategies: apart from its weak response to the “skittles” incident, Brooke 

imposed no punishments on other students for calling MG anti-gay slurs 

and took no schoolwide actions aside from possibly sending home a letter 

about bullying. As the Sixth Circuit concluded in Vance, a school’s practice 

of ignoring a widespread pattern of harassment, taking a few ad hoc actions, 

and making only a single, delayed attempt to address the broader problem 

amounts to a clearly unreasonable response. 231 F.3d at 263. 

U.S. Department of Education guidance is consistent with Vance’s view of 

what Title IX requires from schools. In one of a series of examples illustrating 

how schools should (or should not) respond to hostile educational 

environments, the Department’s 2010 Guidance describes a particularly on-

point example. In the hypothetical school in the example, a student endured 

the same type of harassment suffered by MG and the plaintiff in Vance.2 The 

student was called anti-gay slurs, physically assaulted, and otherwise 

ridiculed for being gay. Id. at 7. The school reprimanded the individual 

harassers, but without a more holistic approach, the one-off discipline failed 

to deter harassment. Id. Even though the hypothetical school’s response was 
 

2 U.S. Dep’t of Educ., Off. for C.R., Dear Colleague Letter (Oct. 26, 2010), 
https://perma.cc/ZT7U-WV9X. 

https://perma.cc/ZT7U-WV9X
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far more attentive than Brooke’s or that of the school in Vance, the 

Department’s guidance criticizes the school for failing to address the broader 

pattern. Id. The guidance then provides concrete recommendations, 

indicating that schools facing similar issues should train staff on anti-

harassment policies, more aggressively monitor areas where harassment is 

taking place, use progressive discipline, and make clear to the entire school 

that this kind of harassment will not be tolerated. Id. at 7-8. 

Brooke took none of these actions. The school did not train staff on its 

anti-harassment policies, monitor the places where students were harassing 

MG, meaningfully discipline the perpetrators, or address the harassment on 

a schoolwide basis. And while a school’s failure to implement a specific 

remedy does not itself rise to the level of deliberate indifference, the reality 

that solutions were available to Brooke underscores the unreasonableness of 

the administrators’ tepid response. See Zeno, 702 F.3d at 670-71. Especially 

when contrasted with Roxbury Prep’s prompt action after MG reported 

harassment there, JA-2 549, these failures further indicate that Brooke 

exhibited deliberate indifference after learning of MG’s harassment. 

4. Brooke’s decision not to address the rumors in any meaningful way, 

combined with the actions of Brooke staff in the Gracefully Grayson and bus 

incidents, made MG more vulnerable to harassment. First, the school’s 

inaction emboldened the students who were harassing MG. Students went 

from whispering behind MG’s back to calling him gay to his face, Add. 28, 

JA-2 651-53, throwing notes at him in class that said that he was “gay and a 
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faggot,” JA-2 843, calling him “skittles” in front of a teacher, JA-1 534-35; JA-

2 573, 661-62, and harassing him until he left Brooke at the end of sixth grade, 

JA-1 534.  

School officials’ actions also added fuel to the fire. Ms. Reed told MG that 

he should “watch his flamboyant hands” in front of other students on the 

bus. JA-1 451. In doing so, she sent two messages. Her inaction told the 

student who said she disliked MG because he was gay that such hurtful, 

bigoted statements would face no consequences. And she simultaneously 

conveyed to MG that he should not expect support from his teachers but 

instead should just try harder to conform. Ms. Nissan also made matters 

worse when she placed a copy of Gracefully Grayson on MG’s desk before the 

class returned from recess. Add. 10; JA-1 452; JA-2 618-20. While a jury might 

conclude that Ms. Nissan intended to help MG, her actions openly endorsed 

the other students’ belief that MG was really gay or transgender, leading to 

further harassment. Add. 10; JA-2 620. 

Brooke failed entirely to address the anti-gay and anti-transgender 

animus that MG endured. By communicating to the tormentors that they 

would face no consequences, and by conveying to MG that his mindset, not 

the harassment, was the problem, Brooke’s response to his years-long ordeal 

was clearly unreasonable. 
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Conclusion 

This Court should reverse the district court’s order and remand plaintiff-

appellant MG’s Title IX claim for trial. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 
 
NATASHA GRACE, MINOR CHILD MG,  ) 
MINOR CHILD MG2, MINOR CHILD MG3, ) 
MINOR CHILD AG, MINOR CHILD MP,  )  
      ) 
  Plaintiffs,   ) 
 v.     )  CIVIL ACTION 
      )  NO. 19-10930-GAO 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES, BROOKE EAST  ) 
BOSTON, BROOKE SCHOOL FOUNDATION, ) 
INC.,      ) 
      ) 
  Defendants.   ) 
 

REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATION ON 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
May 25, 2022 

DEIN, U.S.M.J. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This action arises out of alleged incidents of bullying and harassment against the 

plaintiff, Minor Child MG (“MG”), while he was a student at the Brooke Charter School East 

Boston (“Brooke East Boston” or “School”) in Boston, Massachusetts.   In 2019, after MG’s 

mother, Natasha Grace (“Ms. Grace” or “mother”), withdrew him from the School, MG, his 

mother, and his four minor siblings filed this action in Massachusetts state court against the 

School, its Board of Trustees and the Brooke School Foundation, Inc., claiming that the 

defendants’ failure to protect MG from abuse by other students and members of the School’s 

staff, as well as their failure to comply with certain reporting requirements, violated MG’s rights 

under federal and state law, violated Ms. Grace’s rights under state law, and caused all the 
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plaintiffs to suffer a loss of consortium.  By their Complaint (Docket No. 1-2) (“Compl.”), the 

plaintiffs asserted eighteen claims against the defendants, including claims for violations of Title 

IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. (Count I)1; claims pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 for the denial of equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment (Counts 

II-III); deprivation of equal rights pursuant to the Massachusetts Equal Rights Amendment 

(“ERA”) and Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 76, § 5 (Count IV); violations of Massachusetts’ anti-bullying 

law, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 71, § 37O (Count V); negligence (Count VI); negligent infliction of 

emotional distress (Counts VII-VIII); violation of the state parental notification law, Mass. Gen. 

Laws ch. 71, § 32A (Count IX); failure to report a threat to personal safety under 603 C.M.R. § 

33.00 (Count X); negligent supervision of students (Count XI); negligent hiring, supervision and 

retention (Count XII); and loss of consortium (Counts XIII-XVIII).  On April 23, 2019, the 

defendants removed the case to this court pursuant to this court’s federal question jurisdiction.   

The matter is presently before the court on the “Defendants’ Motion for Summary 

Judgment” (Docket No. 44).  Therein, the defendants contend that there are no material facts in 

dispute and that they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law with respect to each Count of 

the plaintiffs’ Complaint.  As described below, this court finds that the plaintiffs’ claims for 

violation of Title IX should be resolved by a factfinder at trial, but that the defendants are 

entitled to summary judgment with respect to the remaining claims.  Accordingly, and for all 

the reasons detailed herein, this court recommends to the District Judge to whom this case is 

assigned that the defendants’ motion for summary judgment be ALLOWED IN PART and DENIED 

1 Count I of the plaintiffs’ Complaint is entitled “Claims for Violations [of] Federal Rights Under Title VII 
AND Title IX” but contains no further references to Title VII and does not otherwise purport to state a 
claim under Title VII.  Therefore, this court has construed Count I as a claim under Title IX.   
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IN PART such that the motion be allowed with respect to Counts II-XVIII but denied with respect 

to Count I of the Complaint.   

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS2 

The following facts are undisputed unless otherwise indicated. 

The Brooke Charter Schools  

 The facts giving rise to the instant case occurred during the time period from 2015 

through 2018, when MG was attending fourth through sixth grade at Brooke East Boston.  The 

School is part of the Brooke Charter Schools, a network of three high performing K-8 public 

charter schools and one high school that are located in Boston, Massachusetts.  (Def. Ex. D at 6 

of 107).  All of the campuses are governed by the defendant Board of Trustees and receive 

fundraising support from defendant Brooke School Foundation, Inc., a nonprofit fundraising 

entity.  (DF ¶¶ 5, 7; PR ¶ 7).  The stated mission of the Brooke Charter Schools “is to provide an 

academically rigorous public education to students from the cities of Boston and Chelsea that 

will ensure they are prepared to attend and succeed in college.”  (Def. Ex. D at 6 of 107).   

 At the time MG attended the School, Jon Clark (“Mr. Clark”) served as a Co-Director of 

the Brooke Charter Schools and had overall responsibility for the successful operation of the 

schools.  (DF ¶ 2).  Both Mr. Clark and his Co-Director, Kimberly Steadman (“Ms. Steadman”), 

2 The facts are derived from: (1) the “Defendants’ Local Rule 56.1 Concise Statement of Material Facts as 
to Which There is No Genuine Issue to be Tried” (Docket No. 46) (“DF”) and the exhibits attached 
thereto (“Def. Ex. __”); and (2) the “Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendants’ Local Rule 56.1 Concise 
Statement of Material Facts as to Which There are Genuine Issues to be Tried” (Docket No. 54) (“PR”) 
and the exhibits attached thereto (“Pl. Ex. __”).  However, this court has not credited facts that are not 
supported by cited portions of the record.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A) (“A party asserting that a fact 
cannot be or is genuinely disputed must support the assertion by ... citing to particular parts of materials 
in the record ....”).  Unless otherwise indicated, page citations are to page numbers on the exhibits 
rather than the court’s ECF numbers.   
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reported directly to the Board of Trustees, while the Principals of each charter school reported 

to Mr. Clark and Ms. Steadman.  (DF ¶ 5; PR ¶ 5).  Molly Cole (“Ms. Cole”) served as the 

Principal of Brooke East Boston and had overall responsibility for the School.  (DF ¶ 8; PR ¶ 5).  

She was assisted by three Assistant Principals and a Dean of Students to whom she delegated 

certain responsibilities.  (DF ¶ 8; PR ¶¶ 5,8).  Yasenia Dudley (“Ms. Dudley”), the Dean of 

Students, had primary responsibility for maintaining and enforcing the School’s Code of 

Conduct.  (DF ¶ 9).  This included responsibility for investigating complaints of bullying, 

harassment, and other disciplinary matters, as well as responsibility for disciplining violators.  

(See Pl. Ex. 4 at 12, 24, 27).  According to Ms. Dudley, she received no specific training on 

investigation procedures prior to or during her employment at Brooke East Boston.  (Id. at 13-

14; PR ¶ 10).  Nevertheless, it is undisputed that Ms. Dudley holds a master’s degree in mental 

health counseling and is currently pursuing a doctorate in education.  (Def. Ex. B at 9; DF ¶ 10).   

 The School’s Code of Conduct is set forth in the Brooke Charter Schools Student & 

Family Handbook (“Handbook”), a comprehensive document containing the procedures, 

policies and practices applicable to grades K-8.  (Def. Ex. D at 8-30 of 107).  According to the 

Handbook, the Brooke Charter Schools are “unequivocally committed to providing a safe and 

orderly environment in which students can maximize their academic achievement.”  (Id. at 8 of 

107).  To that end, students who violate the Code of Conduct may face certain consequences, 

including but not limited to, a citation known as a “Community Violation,” a referral to the 

Dean of Discipline, and the loss of privileges, detention, suspension or expulsion.  (Id. at 8-12 of 

107; Def. Ex. C ¶ 12).  The record establishes that MG had disciplinary issues, and received an 

increasing number of Community Violations and detentions during the three years when he 
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was enrolled at Brooke East Boston.  (PR ¶ 16; Pl. Ex. 3 at 204-05).  The plaintiffs contend that 

the teachers used subjective criteria to determine whether a student’s conduct was 

inappropriate and had too much discretion in determining what discipline was warranted in the 

classroom.  (See PR ¶¶ 16-17).  They also contend that MG’s escalating behavioral issues 

resulted from the School’s failure to protect him from bullying and harassment by his peers and 

certain members of the School’s staff.  (See PR ¶ 22).    

 The Handbook includes a “Bullying and Prevention Policy,” which calls on the Principal 

to create and maintain a “Bullying Prevention Plan” and states, inter alia, that “[t]he school will 

take specific steps to create a safe, supportive environment for vulnerable populations in the 

school community, and provide all students with the skills, knowledge, and strategies to 

prevent or respond to bullying, harassment, or teasing.”  (Def. Ex. D at 77-78 of 107; see also PR 

¶ 3).  The term “bullying,” as used in the Bullying and Prevention Policy, is defined in 

accordance with the Massachusetts anti-bullying statute, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 71, § 37O, as 

follows:  

BULLYING, as defined in MGL c. 71, § 37O, is the repeated use by one or more 
students or by a member of a school staff ... of a written, verbal, or electronic 
expression or a physical act or gesture or any combination thereof, directed at a 
target that:  

i. causes physical or emotional harm to the target or damages to the 
target’s property;  

ii. places the target in reasonable fear of harm to himself or herself or of 
damage to his or her property;  

iii. creates a hostile environment at school for the target;  
iv. infringes on the rights of the target at school; or  
v. [m]aterially and substantially disrupts the education process or the 

orderly operation of a school.   
 
(Def. Ex. D at 83 of 107).  As detailed below, the plaintiffs claim that MG was bullied while he 

was in the fourth, fifth and sixth grades at the School.   
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During the time when MG was a student at Brooke East Boston, the School had a 

bullying prevention plan that had been submitted to and approved by the state.  (DF ¶ 14; Def. 

Ex. A at 145).  As described above, Ms. Dudley had primary responsibility for investigating 

complaints of bullying and harassment at the School.  She also prepared reports of her 

investigations, submitted them to the School’s Principal or one of the Vice Principals and, 

depending upon the circumstances, worked with the Principal or Vice Principal to determine a 

response.  (See Pl. Ex. 4 at 27, 29-30, 40-42).  The plaintiffs assert that the School’s 

implementation of its bullying prevention plan was inadequate because Ms. Dudley and other 

members of the School’s administration had too much discretion to determine whether a 

student’s conduct constituted bullying and what responses were appropriate.  (PR ¶¶ 12, 14).   

Alleged Incidents of Bullying During MG’s Fourth Grade School Year (2015-2016) 

 The plaintiffs’ claims in this action arise out of incidents that began when MG was in the 

fourth grade at the School.  The first of these incidents began when one of MG’s fourth grade 

classmates, MV, tripped MG during school and MG responded by calling MV “dumb.”  (PR ¶ 

23).  This would prove to be the first of several conflicts between MV and MG during MG’s 

enrollment at Brooke East Boston, and it resulted in MG receiving a Community Violation.  (Id. 

¶¶ 23, 27; DF ¶ 23).  On August 28, 2015, Ms. Grace sent an email to Mr. Clark in which she 

expressed concern that, contrary to the School’s version of the incident, MV had acted 

intentionally when he tripped MG.  (DF ¶ 23; Def. Ex. G).  She also informed Mr. Clark that MV 

had pushed and tripped MG on two additional occasions, but the School had failed to 

investigate the matter until Ms. Grace complained to the Principal, Ms. Cole, and Ms. Cole 

assured her that Ms. Dudley would look into the issue.  (Def. Ex. G).   
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In response to Ms. Grace’s email, Mr. Clark contacted Ms. Cole, who told him that the 

matter had been investigated and addressed in a satisfactory way.  (DF ¶ 24).  Thus, it is 

undisputed that Ms. Dudley conducted an investigation and informed Ms. Grace that MV 

admitted to tripping MG on purpose.  (Pl. Ex. 2 at 63-65).  She also explained that MV would 

receive two Community Violations as a result of his improper conduct.3  (Def. Ex. G).  However, 

the parties dispute whether the conflict was addressed appropriately by the School.  According 

to the defendants, the incident was properly investigated at the school level and appropriately 

deemed to be a “peer-to-peer conflict” rather than a “bullying” incident that required the 

submission of a written report to the state under the School’s bullying prevention policies.  (DF 

¶¶ 26, 29; see also Def. Ex. A at 79-84).  The plaintiffs dispute the defendants’ characterization 

of the incident as a “peer-to-peer conflict” and contend that MV’s behavior constituted 

“bullying” under Massachusetts law.4  (PR ¶¶ 24, 26, 29).  Additionally, while Ms. Grace 

conceded that the School ultimately took disciplinary action against MV, the plaintiffs take issue 

with its failure to perform an investigation until Ms. Grace complained, as well as its alleged 

3 The plaintiffs repeatedly argue that the defendants’ failure to produce in discovery documentation 
reflecting the School’s investigations into MG’s and Ms. Grace’s complaints of bullying undermines the 
defendants’ assertions that investigations took place.  (See, e.g., PR ¶¶ 26, 29, 80).  However, the 
plaintiffs’ own witnesses testified that such investigations occurred, and the plaintiffs have presented no 
evidence to the contrary.   
 
4 The plaintiffs dispute the defendants’ description of the incidents involving MV and MG as “peer-to-
peer conflict” and suggest that the defendants’ reference to “conflicts” rather than “bullying” was 
intended to minimize the severity and pervasiveness of the alleged harassment against MG and to justify 
their failure to promptly investigate and punish MV’s conduct toward MG.  (See Pl. Opp. Mem. (Docket 
No. 58) at 1-2, 13-15).  As described above, however, the record shows that the School investigated Ms. 
Grace’s August 28, 2015 complaint about MV’s conduct and disciplined MV for his behavior.  
Furthermore, as detailed below, the record shows that the School disciplined MV for other incidents 
involving physical altercations with MG 
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failure to protect MG from additional bullying and harassment by MV.  (See Pl. Ex. 2 at 63-65; 

PR ¶ 29).     

 MG claims that MV also bullied him by repeatedly calling him “the ‘B’ word, a girl and 

gay” during his fourth grade year, but there is no evidence that MG or Ms. Grace reported any 

of the name calling incidents to the School or that anyone in authority at the School was aware 

of these incidents.  (PR ¶ 29).  According to Mr. Clark, the only incidents that were brought to 

his attention while MG was in the fourth grade were the matters described in Ms. Grace’s 

August 28, 2015, email.  (Def. Ex. A at 95).  While the email described several instances of 

pushing and tripping, it contained no references to name calling or other forms of verbal 

harassment.5  (Def. Ex. G).    

Alleged Incidents of Bullying During MG’s Fifth Grade School Year (2016-2017) 

 MG entered the fifth grade at Brooke East Boston in the fall of 2016.  In an email to Mr. 

Clark dated November 2, 2016, Ms. Grace complained about an incident in which an 

unidentified teacher told MG that “they are not wasting [their] time on a child that [can’t 

follow] direction[s.]”  (DF ¶ 32; PR ¶ 32; Def. Ex. I).  As Ms. Grace stated in her email, “[i]t’s very 

disappointing to me that I send my son to a school [that] practices respect and strong discipline 

for the children but not the adults. (Teachers).”  (Def. Ex. I).  She also expressed dissatisfaction 

with Ms. Cole’s response to the incident, which involved speaking with the teacher but no 

5 Although there is no further evidence of alleged bullying during MG’s fourth grade year, it is 
undisputed that MG received a suspension from riding the bus because he was talking about another 
student and failed to follow the bus driver’s directions.  (Def. Ex. H).  The suspension was effective for 
one day after which MG was allowed back on the bus.  (Id.).    
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further action.  (Id.).  Mr. Clark believed he would have called the Principal, Ms. Cole, to discuss 

the incident, but he had no memory of speaking about it to Ms. Grace.  (Def. Ex. A at 75). 

 The plaintiffs claim that the teacher’s statement to MG confirms that the School 

included MG on what the plaintiffs describe as a “heavy hitter” list of students with disciplinary 

problems.  (PR ¶ 32).  They further suggest that the School created a bias against MG by 

distributing the list to its teachers and staff.  (See id.).  However, the record does not support 

the plaintiffs’ characterization of the list or its negative use by the School.  The document that 

the plaintiffs refer to as the “heavy hitter” list consists of an untitled, confidential list of 

students that includes their grade and classroom teacher, their “[t]riggers,” their behavioral 

issues and the “[a]ppropriate [r]esponse to behavior.”  (Pl. Ex. 13).  The plaintiffs have not cited 

any evidence to show who received the list or that it was used for any improper purpose.  Nor 

have they presented any evidence to establish a connection between the list and the incident 

described by Ms. Grace in her November 2, 2016 email to Mr. Clark.  (See PF ¶ 32).   

 Another incident giving rise to the plaintiffs’ claims in this action concerns MG’s teacher, 

Jenna Nissan (“Ms. Nissan”).  On December 9, 2016, Ms. Grace sent Mr. Clark another email in 

which she described the incident as follows: 

So student at the school (last year) started sending a rumor around that my son 
[MG] was gay or wanted to be a transgender.  This issue was just brought up 
again.  After him talking to the dean Ms. Dudley, he then went to the class and 
was questioned by his teacher about why [he] was in the office.  He told Ms. 
Nissan that kids called him names and he didn’t care cause he’s not gay nor does 
he want to be a transgender.  He went on with the day he came back to his desk, 
there’s a book he read the back and it’s about a transgender boy with a note 
stating that this is a book that is his choice on if he want to read it or not.   
 

(Def. Ex. J).  The book, Gracefully Grayson, was in the libraries of all the Brooke Charter Schools 

and it provides a fictional account of a child who identifies as transgender.  (DF ¶ 37, 39; PR ¶ 
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39).  It was not part of a sexual education or health education curriculum.  (DF ¶ 37; PR ¶ 37).   

On a post-it note, which Ms. Nissan placed on the front of the book, Ms. Nissan wrote, “If you 

want to read about this, just for interest! (If not, you can give it back to me).”  (Def. Ex. K).  She 

also drew a heart and printed her name on the note.  (Id.).   

 In her email to Mr. Clark, Ms. Grace complained that MG was only 10 years old and it 

was not his teacher’s place to recommend a book like Gracefully Grayson to her son.  (Def. Ex. 

J).  She also complained that the incident made MG feel offended and upset, and that her effort 

to discuss the matter with Ms. Cole had not been productive.  (Id.).  According to Ms. Grace, 

Ms. Cole’s only response to Ms. Nissan’s conduct was, “I don’t feel it came from a bad place.”  

(Id.).  This made Ms. Grace feel upset as well as angry and disrespected.  (Id.).  

 MG was extremely ashamed and embarrassed by Ms. Nissan’s decision to leave the 

book on his desk.  (PR ¶ 37).  As his therapist subsequently reported in one of her Progress 

Notes, “all the other kids were laughing and pointing at [MG] and he felt like he just wanted to 

die.”  (Pl. Ex. 15 at 5).  MG brought the matter to Ms. Dudley’s attention.  (Pl. Ex. 4 at 134).  

Because it was a teacher-related incident, Ms. Dudley reported it to the Principal or to one of 

the School’s Vice Principals.  (Id.).  The School has no written report of MG’s complaint but Mr. 

Clark testified that he talked to Ms. Nissan, who told him that she left Gracefully Grayson on 

MG’s desk because he “seemed down” about the rumors going around about his sexual 

orientation and gender identity.  (PR ¶ 40; Def. Ex. A at 112-13).  She also told him that the 

book was popular in her classroom and that several students had read it.  (Id. at 110-11).  After 

hearing details from Ms. Nissan, Mr. Clark felt that no further action from him was warranted.  
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(Id. at 109).  Thus, it is undisputed that the School took no corrective action against Ms. Nissan 

and that nothing more was done to address this incident.  (Pl. Ex. 19 at Response No. 35).     

 A third incident, again involving an adult, took place on MG’s bus and arose out of a 

conversation between the bus monitor, Anitra Reed (“Ms. Reed”), and a female student.  (DF ¶ 

42).  The record establishes that Ms. Reed asked the student, within MG’s earshot, whether she 

liked MG.  (Id.; Pl. Ex. 3 at 81).  The student replied that she did not like MG because everyone 

in the school thought he was loud and gay.  (Pl. Ex. 3 at 81-82).  Reportedly, Ms. Reed then told 

MG “to watch his flamboyant hands – the way he moves his hands and the way he talks[.]”  (Pl. 

Ex. 2 at 84).  The incident humiliated MG, who “stood down and stayed to [himself] in [his] 

seat.”  (Pl. Ex. 3 at 82).   

 Ms. Dudley learned about the bus incident from MG or Ms. Reed and she performed an 

investigation into the circumstances surrounding the matter.  (Def. Ex. B at 79-81).  Although 

Ms. Dudley had trouble remembering the exact words used by the parties involved in the 

incident, she recalled that Ms. Reed had asked the female student if she liked MG, and the 

student’s response was “[n]o because I think he’s gay.”  (Id. at 80).   She also recalled that Ms. 

Reed “went and told [MG] that[,]” but there is no evidence that Ms. Dudley or any other 

members of the School administration learned of any comments about MG’s flamboyant hands 

or his manner of speaking.  (See id.).  According to Ms. Dudley, the School took no disciplinary 

action against the female student because her statement regarding MG’s sexual orientation 

had not been directed at MG.  (See id. at 81).   It is also undisputed that the School took no 

corrective actions with respect to Ms. Reed.  (Pl. Ex. 18, Ans. No. 25).  Ms. Dudley did believe 

that she contacted Ms. Grace to inform her about the incident.  (Def. Ex. B at 83).   
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 Two final incidents that occurred during MG’s fifth grade year involved physical 

altercations between MG and MV.  The first altercation took place in January 2017, and 

occurred when the students encountered each other in the hallway at School.  (DF ¶ 45).  Both 

MG and MV received Community Violations as a result of the incident.  (Id.).  Additionally, the 

School worked with teachers and other staff members in an effort to limit the times when MG 

and MV were both present in the hallways and bathrooms, and informed the parents of both 

students about this strategy.  (Id.).  Prior to this incident, the School had put the two boys in 

separate classes due to their past conflicts.  (PR ¶ 45). 

 The second altercation between MG and MV occurred on January 17, 2017, when the 

students were outside during recess.  (DF ¶ 46; Pl. Ex. 2 at 111).  According to Ms. Grace, Ms. 

Dudley called to inform her that MV had hit MG in the head, and that MG had hit MV back 

while screaming, “I’m not scared of you.”  (Pl. Ex. 2 at 111).  Ms. Dudley also informed her that 

both students were disciplined as a result of their conduct.  (Id. at 111-12).  Although MG was 

not hurt, Ms. Grace was dissatisfied with the School’s response, and on January 19, 2017, she 

filed an Incident Report with the police.  (Id. at 112-13; Pl. Ex. 11 at 4).  The Report noted that 

“[p]rior to this incident, the victim has been verbally assaulted, threatened and has been called 

‘gay and a fag’ by this same individual” and that Ms. Grace remained unhappy with the School’s 

approach to the problem.  (Pl. Ex. 11 at 4).  It also provided that MG “did not complain of any 

injuries” and that “the school administrators would be informed that the police were notified 
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and would follow up on it.”  (Id.).  It is unclear what, if any, action the police took to follow up 

on Ms. Grace’s complaint. 6 

 The record shows that MG began seeing a Licensed Mental Health Counselor beginning 

in January 2017 and was diagnosed with “[m]ajor depressive disorder, single episode,” post-

traumatic stress disorder and anxiety disorder.  (Pl. Ex. 15 at 1-2).  During his therapy sessions, 

MG complained that he was bullied at school on a daily basis, with kids calling him names like 

“gay” and “faggot” and “body check[ing]” him in the school yard.  (Id. at 7, 13).  He also 

reported that his teachers ignored his complaints and punished him when he tried to defend 

himself.  (Id. at 13, 16-17, 21).  The therapist’s notes indicate that MG’s peers continued to 

harass him throughout the course of the school year by taunting him, calling him “gay” and 

making fun of him on social media, and that MG became increasingly withdrawn, depressed 

and anxious as a result of his experience at school.  (Id. at 16-17, 21, 24-26, 34).  According to 

Ms. Grace, MG complained about the name calling but the issue “just wasn’t dealt with” or 

taken seriously by the School.  (See Pl. Ex. 2 at 222-23).    

Alleged Incidents of Bullying During MG’s Sixth Grade School Year (2017-2018) 

 The final incidents giving rise to this action occurred during MG’s sixth grade year at the 

School.  In September of that year, MG learned that a fellow student had called him “gay” and 

started a rumor that spread around the School.  (PR ¶ 50; Def. Ex. A at 95-96).  MG reported the 

6 The plaintiffs contend that the School received a copy of the January 19, 2017 police Incident Report, 
but have not cited to any evidence that supports their contention.  (See PR ¶ 49 (citing police Incident 
Report)).  The defendants contend that no such police Report was ever provided to the Brooke Charter 
Schools, but they have presented no records or testimony to support their assertion.  (See DF ¶ 49 
(citing Response No. 16 to plaintiffs’ Request for Admissions)).  Accordingly, it is not clear whether the 
School was aware of the Incident Report.     
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matter to Ms. Dudley, who conducted an investigation and learned that the name-calling had 

occurred while the other student was at summer camp.  (Def. Ex. A at 95-96).  Because the 

offending conduct had taken place outside of school, Ms. Dudley determined that the School 

had no grounds to take disciplinary action.  (Def. Ex. B at 59-61).  The plaintiffs disagree with 

Ms. Dudley’s conclusion and assert that “[t]his name-calling is a qualifying bullying behavior 

under the [bullying prevention] Plan and law as out of school conduct that has in-school effect.”  

(PR ¶ 50).  They also challenge the School’s failure to take steps “to support MG as a vulnerable 

student under its Plan[.]”  (Id. ¶ 52).   

 Sometime thereafter, Ms. Reed overheard two upper grade students refer to MG as 

“skittles,” a derogatory term for a gay individual.  (DF ¶ 53).  Ms. Reed brought the offending 

students to Ms. Dudley, who issued them detentions and notified their parents.  (Id.).   MG told 

his therapist that the incident made him feel like a “[p]iece of shit” because students who 

overheard the comments were laughing and making fun of him.  (Pl. Ex. 16 at 24).  He also told 

her that Ms. Reed made no attempt to stop the teasing and did not make the upper grade 

students apologize.  (Id.).    

Another incident, this one involving MG and one his peers, began during art class when 

MG and a classmate, ED, were involved in an argument over art supplies.  (DF ¶ 60; Def. Ex. A at 

124).  At some point in the argument, MG said to the other boy in front of the class, “[t]hat’s 

why nobody likes you and your girlfriend broke up with you.”  (Def. Ex. A at 124).  ED began 

crying and MG received a detention.  (Id.).  A month later, in early November 2017, one of ED’s 

cousins sent a text or posted a message threatening to harm MG.  (Id.; Pl. Ex. 11 at 6).  The 

threat was reported to the School and ED’s cousin was suspended.  (Def. Ex. A at 124).  
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However, the suspension did not resolve the matter.  According to MG, ED continued to harass 

MG by following him around in school and expressing anger at MG for getting him and his 

cousin in trouble.  (Pl. Ex. 3 at 114).  MG reported this behavior to Ms. Dudley who “corrected” 

ED.  (Id.).  Neither ED nor his cousin bothered MG after Ms. Dudley intervened in the dispute.  

(Id.).   

 The record establishes that MG became increasingly agitated, anxious and resistant to 

attending school during the sixth grade.  (Pl. Ex. 16 at 5, 14, 26).  It further shows that MG’s 

disciplinary problems increased significantly, and that he received over one hundred 

Community Violations for his behavior that year.  (Pl. Ex. 3 at 204-05).  Most of the Violations 

were issued by MG’s teacher, Katrina Freund (“Ms. Freund”), who claimed that MG initiated 

confrontations with her, arrived late and talked during class, slapped his own head or the table 

during class, repeatedly demanded permission to leave class to get water or use the restroom, 

made disparaging remarks to other students, refused to obey his teachers’ instructions and 

made disrespectful comments to his teachers in front of the class.  (Id. at 205; Def. Ex. C ¶¶ 13, 

15).  MG disputes Ms. Freund’s description of his behavior and claims that some of the 

discipline he received was unwarranted.  (Pl. Ex. 3 at 125-28).   

MG also contends that he was treated improperly by Gilbert Cardwell (“Mr. Cardwell”), 

a school culture aide7 who worked at Brooke East Boston for a brief period in March and April 

of 2018, and issued some Community Violations to MG.  (PR ¶ 55; Pl. Ex. 6 at 239-40; Pl. Ex. 3 at 

128).  According to MG, Mr. Cardwell swore at him whenever he saw MG in the hallway or the 

7 The plaintiffs refer to the school culture aide as Mr. Caldwell.  (PR ¶ 55).  However, the evidence shows 
that the correct name is “Cardwell.”  (Pl. Ex. 6 at 239; Pl. Ex. 3 at 128).     
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bathroom, telling MG to “hurry the F up.”  (Pl. Ex. 3 at 129-30).  He also accused MG of playing 

in the bathroom and calling Mr. Cardwell “[s]weetie.”  (Id. at 128).  Ms. Grace complained 

about Mr. Cardwell to Ms. Dudley and the matter was referred to an Assistant Principal, Ms. 

Kirby.  (Pl. Ex. 2 at 147-48).  Ms. Kirby told Ms. Grace that she would speak to Mr. Cardwell, but 

nothing more was done until the School learned that Mr. Cardwell had been swearing at other 

students and terminated his employment.  (Id.; Pl. Ex. 3 at 129; Pl. Ex. 6 at 239-40).     

The record demonstrates that Ms. Dudley organized meetings to address MG’s 

behavioral issues and develop a behavior support plan.  (DF ¶ 57).  The participants included 

Ms. Dudley, Ms. Grace, the School Psychologist, Maria Cannavo, MG’s personal therapist and 

the School Principal or an Assistant Principal.  (DF ¶ 58).  Ms. Grace consistently advocated for 

moving MG to a new classroom, away from Ms. Freund, but instead a decision was made to 

provide MG with a notebook so he could communicate his thoughts and concerns to Ms. 

Freund in writing.  (Pl. Ex. 20; DF ¶ 59; PR ¶ 59).  The notebook proved to be an ineffective 

means to facilitate communication between MG and his teacher or to address the problems he 

was having in school.  (DF ¶ 59).   

Toward the latter end of the school year, in May 2018, another incident occurred 

involving MV and MG.  On May 17, 2018, MV was involved in a fight on the playground.  (DF ¶ 

62).  It is undisputed that MG was not a participant in the fight but the facts as to what 

happened next are unclear.  (See id.; PR ¶ 62).  According to Mr. Clark, as a teacher was leading 

MV back into the School, MG approached MV, which made MV angry.  (Def. Ex. A at 178-79).  

MV then attempted to “get[ ] at MG, but the teacher stood between them” and prevented any 

contact with the plaintiff.  (Id. at 179-80).  However, Ms. Dudley provided a slightly different 

Case 1:19-cv-10930-GAO   Document 64   Filed 05/25/22   Page 16 of 47

Add. 16



account of the situation.  According to Ms. Dudley, MV “put his hands on [MG]” as MV was 

being led into the School.  (See Pl. Ex. 4 at 48).  The plaintiffs contend, based on Ms. Dudley’s 

account of the incident, that MV’s contact with MG constituted bullying and that the School 

failed to handle the situation appropriately.  (PR ¶¶ 62-64).  While it is undisputed that MV was 

suspended from school for fighting with others, the plaintiffs claim that the “others” did not 

include MG and that the School failed to discipline MV for his conduct toward MG.  (See DF ¶ 

64; PR ¶ 64).   

The final incident that occurred during MG’s sixth grade year at Brooke East Boston took 

place on May 18, 2018 in MG’s classroom, as MG’s teacher, Ms. Freund, was distributing post-it 

notes to the class.  (DF ¶ 65; PR ¶ 65).  The details of this incident are partially disputed.  Ms. 

Freund claims that she had been tossing post-it notes to students who had none of their own so 

they could make annotations as they were reading.  (Def. Ex. C ¶ 17).  When Ms. Freund arrived 

at MG’s desk, MG told her he did not want any post-it notes.  (Id.).  According to the teacher,  

I pointed out that he had none, and tossed a few onto his desk, as I had done 
with the previous ten or so students.  M.G. held up his hand to block the post-its 
and they hit his hand.  M.G. shouted “you threw post-its at me!”  I said “no I 
didn’t” and continued to distribute the post-its.  I did not engage with him 
further, in order to continue the lesson, and the class then started to read.   

 
(Id.).  Ms. Freund expressly denies that she threw post-it notes or anything else at MG, and 

claims that the “Plaintiff’s own actions of trying to block his desk after I tossed the post-it notes 

caused the notes to come into contact with him.”  (Id. ¶ 18).  The plaintiffs dispute Ms. Freund’s 

account of the incident.  They maintain that Ms. Freund threw the post-it notes at MG and hit 

him intentionally.  (PR ¶¶ 65, 67; Pl. Ex. 2 at 162, 167; Pl. Ex. 21 at 1).  They further maintain 
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that the incident reflected the hostility that had developed between MG and his teacher.  (Pl. 

Ex. 2 at 162; Pl. Ex. 21 at 1).    

 Immediately following the post-it note incident, MG received permission from another 

teacher, Ms. Ruggeri, to leave his classroom and go to the bathroom.  (DF ¶ 66; PR ¶ 66).  

Instead of going to the bathroom, MG contacted his mother.  (Pl. Ex. 2 at 160-61; see also DF ¶ 

68).  Ms. Grace arrived at the School where she spoke to Ms. Dudley and obtained permission 

to go to MG’s classroom to speak with Ms. Freund.  (Pl. Ex. 2 at 160-62).  While Ms. Grace 

claims that she acted appropriately when she reached the classroom, the defendants insist that 

she began yelling at Ms. Freund at a volume that could be heard on other floors of the School.  

(PR ¶ 68; DF ¶ 69).  As described below, this incident led Mr. Clark to ban Ms. Grace from the 

School except under certain limited conditions.  It also led Ms. Grace to withdraw her children 

from Brooke East Boston.   

Following her visit to the School, Ms. Grace filed a police report in which she complained 

that MG was being bullied again in school and accused Ms. Freund of assaulting her son with 

post-it notes.  (Pl. Ex. 11 at 8-9).  She also retained counsel to represent her and MG in their 

dispute against the defendants.  (PR ¶ 72).  On May 21, 2018, Ms. Grace delivered a Demand 

Letter to the School that had been drafted by her attorney.  (Id.).  Therein, plaintiffs’ counsel 

described numerous instances in which MG had allegedly been “singled out and ... targeted by 

students, teachers, and administrators” at Brooke East Boston.  (Pl. Ex. 8 at 1-4).  He also 

accused the defendants of creating and perpetuating a hostile environment for MG, retaliating 

against MG for his complaints of bullying, and failing to protect MG “from constant barrage of 

physical and verbal abuse[.]”  (Id. at 4-5).  The Demand Letter contained a list of nine demands, 
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including but not limited to, the creation of an action plan to protect MG “from all the 

targeting, bullying, [and] retaliation as provided under the laws of Massachusetts.”  (Id. at 5).  

Plaintiffs’ counsel asked the defendants to meet with him on May 23, 2018 “to discuss these 

demands and [their] safety plans, in writing, before [MG] returns to [School].”  (Id. at 6).  There 

is no indication that the parties met or that the School took steps to create a safety plan for 

MG.   

Mr. Clark subsequently conducted an investigation regarding the post-it note incident 

and his findings were consistent with Ms. Freund’s version of the facts.  (See Def. Ex. A at 229-

30).  Thus, Mr. Clark determined that the post-it notes hit MG because he put his arms out over 

his desk when Ms. Freund tried to toss them onto the desk.  (Id.; Def. Ex. O).  Mr. Clark 

attempted to meet with Ms. Grace to discuss his findings, but after speaking with her lawyer, 

Ms. Grace declined to attend a meeting.  (Def. Ex. A at 234; Pl. Ex. 2 at 172-74).  Accordingly, 

Mr. Clark informed Ms. Grace of his findings in a letter dated May 23, 2018.  (Def. Ex. O).   

In a separate letter, which was also dated May 23, 2018, Mr. Clark notified Ms. Grace 

that she was “no longer allowed to come into the building at Brooke East Boston Charter School 

or on school property” except in an emergency or with Mr. Clark’s express permission, and that 

her failure to adhere to these restrictions “will constitute a violation of this no trespass order 

(Mass. General Laws c. 266 Section 120)” and potentially lead to her arrest.  (Def. Ex. P).  As Mr. 

Clark explained in support of the “no trespass order,” the School considered Ms. Grace’s actions 

at the School on May 18, 2018 as “a major disruption to the school, and particularly to [MG]’s 

class.”  (Id.).  He specifically accused her of “interrupting Ms. Freund’s class while she was in the 

middle of a lesson,” insisting that Ms. Freund leave the classroom to speak with her, and raising 
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her voice to tell Ms. Freund “that she was going to be fired such that students and teachers” 

could hear her throughout the third floor hallway.  (Id.).  Although Ms. Grace initially kept MG 

home from school after the post-it note incident because she wanted the School to provide him 

with a safety plan, she withdrew MG from the School and enrolled him elsewhere after 

receiving the no trespass order.  (Def. Ex. F at 193-94).   

The plaintiffs claim that Mr. Clark’s implementation of the no trespass order amounted 

to retaliation for Ms. Grace’s actions in advocating for her son and retaining counsel to 

represent her in her disputes with the School.  (PR ¶ 74).  They also assert that Mr. Clark 

constructively expelled MG and one of his siblings, MG3, from Brooke East Boston by not 

responding to their counsel’s demand for a safety plan for MG and “through the No Trespass 

Order issued to their mother for having retained counsel.”  (PR ¶¶ 75-76).  According to the 

plaintiffs, Ms. Grace suffered a nervous breakdown, a panic attack at work, major depression, 

loss of income and an inability to care for her children as a result of the defendants’ actions.  

(Id. ¶ 76).  They also claim that MG and MG3 “lost weeks of education” and that MG suffered 

emotional harm due to his experience at the School.  (Id.).  Specifically, the plaintiffs claim that 

MG experienced anxiety, depression and post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of the 

bullying, the Gracefully Grayson incident, name calling and “unfair targeting by students and 

teachers” at Brooke East Boston.  (PR ¶ 55).  Furthermore, they claim that MG has become 

distant and has lost interest in life as a result of the “three years of victimization ... by students, 

staff, administration and the Board” of the School.  (PR ¶ 76).   
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Investigation by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education 

 On June 21, 2018, Ms. Grace submitted a written complaint to the Massachusetts 

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (“DESE”) regarding alleged incidents of 

bullying that MG suffered during fourth, fifth and sixth grade.  (DF ¶ 77; PR ¶ 77).  In a letter 

dated July 17, 2018, DESE notified Mr. Clark and Ms. Steadman of the complaint and asked the 

School to provide a report on the following three instances of alleged bullying against MG: (1) 

the January 2017 altercation between MV and MG during recess; (2) the November 2017 

message from ED’s cousin threatening MG with physical harm; and (3) the alleged assault 

against MG by his sixth grade teacher, Ms. Freund, on May 18, 2018.  (Def. Ex. Q).  Mr. Clark 

responded to DESE’s letter on August 9, 2018.  (Def. Ex. R).  Therein, Mr. Clark described the 

findings of his own investigation into the incidents highlighted in DESE’s letter, as well as a 

number of additional incidents of alleged bullying involving MG.  (Id.).  He also described the 

scope of his investigation, referenced documents relating to his investigation, and summarized 

the School’s response to each of the incidents at issue.  (Id.).  As Mr. Clark stated in relevant 

part in his letter,  

[MG] was indeed involved in multiple disciplinary incidents during the year, 
some of which involved wrongs being done to him and some of which involved 
him doing wrongs to others.  In the cases in which wrongs were committed, 
consequences were administered to those students.  None of those incidents 
involved a “repeated use by one or more students or by a member of a school 
staff ...... of a written, verbal, or electronic expression or a physical act or gesture 
or any combination thereof, directed at a target ...” as bullying is defined in MGL 
c. 71, § 37O.  That standard is in fact impossible to meet given that each of the 
incidents described in the complaint names different individuals and different 
circumstances.   

 
(Id. at 1-2).  The plaintiffs submitted a response, which DESE reviewed along with the original 

complaint and Mr. Clark’s written submission.  (See Def. Ex. S at 1).  DESE also spoke to both 
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parties, considered documentation that was submitted by the School and reviewed relevant 

state and federal laws and regulations.  (Id.).   

 On September 14, 2018, DESE issued a letter describing the findings of its investigation 

of the plaintiffs’ complaint.  (Def. Ex. S).  Therein, DESE explained that it investigated the three 

instances of alleged bullying that were described in its July 17, 2018 letter to Mr. Clark and Ms. 

Steadman, and considered the plaintiffs’ allegations under the Massachusetts anti-bullying 

statute, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 71, § 37O.  (Id. at 2).  It further stated that “[i]n all three instances, 

the school administrators did conduct an investigation of bullying[,]” concluded that “bullying 

had not occurred and took protective measures to prevent further instances.”  (Id. at 4).  

According to DESE, Brooke East Boston complied with Mass. Gen. Law ch. 71, § 37O and, based 

on the information gathered, “no violation of education law, regulation or policy has occurred 

with regard to the specific concerns raised.”  (Id. at 5).  The plaintiffs assert that “DESE’s 

conclusions were based on its review of three items out of many allegations contained in a 17 

page complaint” and that the defendants have violated applicable law.  (PR ¶ 79).  Accordingly, 

on April 1, 2019, the plaintiffs filed their Complaint against the defendants in the instant action.   

 Additional factual details relevant to this court’s analysis are described below where 

appropriate.   

III. ANALYSIS 

A. Summary Judgment Standard of Review 

The defendants have moved for summary judgment on all of the plaintiffs’ claims.  

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(a), summary judgment is appropriate when “the 

movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is 
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entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).  “A dispute is ‘genuine’ if the 

evidence ‘is such that a reasonable jury could resolve the point in the favor of the non-moving 

party[.]’”  Taite v. Bridgewater State Univ., Bd. of Trs., 999 F.3d 86, 93 (1st Cir. 2021) (quoting 

Ellis v. Fid. Mgmt. Tr. Co., 883 F.3d 1, 7 (1st Cir. 2018)).   “[A] fact is ‘material’ if it ‘has the 

potential of affecting the outcome of the case.”  Id.  (quoting Perez-Cordero v. Wal-Mart P.R., 

Inc., 656 F.3d 19, 25 (1st Cir. 2011)).   

When a properly supported motion for summary judgment is presented, the non-

moving party can avoid summary judgment only by providing properly supported evidence of a 

genuine dispute about material facts.  See Theriault v. Genesis HealthCare LLC, 890 F.3d 342, 

348 (1st Cir. 2018).  Accordingly, “the nonmoving party must ... ‘set forth specific facts showing 

that there is a genuine issue for trial[.]’”  Carrozza v. CVS Pharmacy, Inc., 992 F.3d 44, 56-57 (1st 

Cir. 2021) (quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)).  In evaluating a 

motion for summary judgment, the Court must review the record “in a light most favorable to 

the non-moving party[.]”  Lima v. City of E. Providence, 17 F.4th 202, 206 (1st Cir. 2021).  Rule 

56 “mandates the entry of summary judgment . . . against a party who fails to make a showing 

sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party’s case, and on which 

that party will bear the burden of proof at trial.”  Popular Auto, Inc. v. Reyes-Colon (In re Reyes-

Colon), 922 F.3d 13, 20 (1st Cir. 2019) (quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 

(1986)). 

B. Count I: Claims for Violations of Title IX 

In Count I of their Complaint, the plaintiffs are seeking to hold the defendants liable 

under Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., for failing to 
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investigate, report and protect MG from harassment and discrimination based on perceptions 

of his sexual orientation and/or gender identity.  The defendants argue that they are entitled to 

judgment as a matter of law on Count I because the School’s reasonable responses to the 

plaintiffs’ claims of harassment preclude a finding that the defendants were deliberately 

indifferent to known acts of sexual harassment, and because the undisputed facts fail to 

establish that MG was targeted “based on sex,” as required to maintain a claim under Title IX.  

(Def. Mem. (Docket No. 51) at 7-14).  While this court finds that the question whether the 

defendants are entitled to summary judgment on one or both of these grounds is a close one, 

this court concludes that these matters are best resolved by a factfinder at trial.  Therefore, this 

court recommends that the defendants’ motion for summary judgment be denied with respect 

to Count I of the Complaint.   

“Title IX prohibits gender-based discrimination in a wide array of programs and activities 

undertaken by educational institutions.”  Frazier v. Fairhaven Sch. Comm., 276 F.3d 52, 65 (1st 

Cir. 2002).   It provides that ‘[n]o person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be 

excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination 

under any education program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.’”  Morgan v. 

Town of Lexington, MA, 823 F.3d 737, 744 (1st Cir. 2016) (quoting 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a)).  “The 

statute’s enforcement machinery includes an implied private right of action through which an 

aggrieved party may seek money damages ... against the educational institution itself.”  Frazier, 

276 F.3d at 65.  In the instant case, the plaintiffs have asserted claims against Brooke East 
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Boston, its Board of Trustees and its fundraising entity based on hostile environment sexual 

harassment.8    

“In general, a hostile environment claim under Title IX requires acts of sexual 

harassment that are so severe and pervasive as to interfere with the educational opportunities 

normally available to students.”  Santiago v. P. R., 655 F.3d 61, 73 (1st Cir. 2011).  To prevail on 

such a claim, the plaintiffs “must show (1) that [MG] was a student, who was (2) subjected to 

harassment (3) based upon sex; (4) that the harassment was sufficiently severe and pervasive 

to create an abusive educational environment; and (5) that a cognizable basis for institutional 

liability exists.”  Frazier, 276 F.3d at 66.  “To satisfy the fifth part of this formulation, the 

plaintiffs must prove that a school official authorized to take corrective action had actual 

knowledge of the harassment, yet exhibited deliberate indifference to it.”  Id.  In this case, the 

defendants argue that the record is inadequate to raise a genuine issue of material fact with 

regard to the third and fifth elements of the plaintiffs’ Title IX claim.  (Def. Mem. at 7-14).  This 

court disagrees for the reasons that follow.   

Deliberate Indifference 

 Addressing the fifth element first, “[t]he deliberate indifference standard has 

considerable bite.  It demands that a funding recipient be shown to have had actual knowledge 

of the harassment.”  Santiago, 655 F.3d at 73.  In addition, a funding recipient will only be liable 

if “its deliberate indifference ‘subject[s]’ its students to harassment.  That is, the deliberate 

8 “Two types of harassment are actionable under Title IX: quid pro quo harassment and hostile 
environment harassment.”  Santiago v. P. R., 655 F.3d 61, 73 (1st Cir. 2011).  As the plaintiffs have stated 
in their opposition to the motion for summary judgment, MG’s Title IX claims are based on a theory of 
“hostile environment sexual harassment.”  (Pl. Opp. Mem. (Docket No. 58) at 9).     

Case 1:19-cv-10930-GAO   Document 64   Filed 05/25/22   Page 25 of 47

Add. 25



indifference must, at a minimum, ‘cause [students] to undergo’ harassment or ‘make them 

liable or vulnerable’ to it.”  Davis v. Monroe Cty. Bd. of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 645, 119 S. Ct. 1661, 

1672, 143 L. Ed. 2d 839 (1999) (alterations in original) (quoting Random House Dictionary of the 

English Language 1415 (1966) and Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 2275 (1961)).  

“If the institution takes timely and reasonable measures to end the harassment, it is not liable 

under Title IX for prior harassment.  Of course, if it learns that its measures have proved 

inadequate, it may be required to take further steps to avoid new liability.”  Wills v. Brown 

Univ., 184 F.3d 20, 26 (1st Cir. 1999).   

 The fact that a funding recipient may face liability for deliberate indifference to known 

acts of sexual harassment “does not mean ... that administrators must engage in particular 

disciplinary action.” Davis, 526 U.S. at 648, 119 S. Ct. at 1173-74.  On the contrary, the Supreme 

Court has cautioned that “courts should refrain from second-guessing the disciplinary decisions 

made by school administrators.”  Id. at 648, 119 S. Ct. at 1674.  In order for school 

administrators to “continue to enjoy the flexibility they require” to address sexual harassment 

in schools, funding recipients will be deemed “’deliberately indifferent’ to ... harassment only 

where the recipient’s response to the harassment or lack thereof is clearly unreasonable in light 

of the known circumstances.”  Id.  Accordingly, “a court’s proper inquiry” in a Title IX case 

against an educational institution “is limited to whether the school’s actions were so lax, so 

misdirected, or so poorly executed as to be clearly unreasonable under the known 

circumstances.”  Fitzgerald v. Barnstable Sch. Comm., 504 F.3d 165, 175 (1st Cir. 2007), rev’d on 

other grounds, 555 U.S. 246, 129 S. Ct. 788, 172 L. Ed. 2d 582 (2009).   
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Application of the Deliberate Indifference Standard to the Instant Case 

 The plaintiffs claim that the defendants were deliberately indifferent to known instances 

of sexual harassment against MG because they failed to adequately investigate and address 

multiple instances in which MV and other students referred to MG using offensive, homophobic 

language such as “gay,” “transgender” and “skittles”; the incident in which Ms. Nissan left a 

copy of Gracefully Grayson on MG’s desk; and the bus incident during which Ms. Reed allegedly 

counseled MG to watch his “flamboyant hands” and “the way he talks.”  (See Pl. Opp. Mem. 

(Docket No. 58) at 13-21).  Because a rational factfinder, viewing the record in the light most 

hospitable to the plaintiffs and drawing all reasonable inferences in their favor, could conclude 

that the School’s response to harassment based on MG’s sexual orientation and gender identity 

was clearly unreasonable in light of the circumstances known by the School’s administrators, 

this court finds that the question of deliberate indifference should be resolved at trial.   

 The evidence shows that beginning in fourth grade, MV began calling MG names such as 

“bitch,” “gay” and “girl.”  (See PR ¶ 29).  It also indicates that the verbal harassment increased 

and became more widespread while MG was in fifth grade.  In particular, the record 

demonstrates that during the first half of MG’s fifth grade school year, his peers were referring 

to him as “gay” or “transgender,” and by about mid-March 2017, a group of boys and even 

some girls were taunting and harassing MG on a daily basis by calling him names such as “gay” 

and “faggot,” and “body check[ing]” him in the school yard.   (Def. Ex. J; Pl. Ex. 15 at 3, 7, 13).   

The harassment spread to social media, continued throughout MG’s fifth grade year and 

persisted during MG’s sixth grade year.  (Pl. Ex. 16 at 21, 24, 26; DF ¶ 53).  By then, MG was 

targeted not only by his peers, but also by students in an upper grade as well.  (DF ¶ 53).  
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The evidence further demonstrates that by the middle of MG’s fifth grade year, when 

the name calling began to intensify to the point where it became a daily occurrence, Mr. Clark 

and Ms. Dudley learned about the verbal harassment from MG, Ms. Grace and some of the 

School’s teaching staff.  (See Def. Ex. J; Pl. Ex. 3 at 79-80; Def. Ex. B at 79-81).   Ms. Dudley also 

knew that the name calling continued when MG was in the sixth grade.  (See Def. Ex. A at 95-

96; Def. B at 59-61; DF ¶ 53).  It undisputed that Ms. Dudley investigated only three of the 

name calling incidents – two in which students called MG “gay” and one in which older students 

referred to MG as “skittles.”  (See Def. A at 95-96, 112-13; Def. Ex. B at 59-61; 79-81; DF ¶ 53).  

With the exception of the “skittles” incident in which Ms. Dudley issued detentions to the 

perpetrators, there is no evidence that the School took concrete steps to stop the harassment 

or protect MG from ongoing harassment.  The record, when viewed in the plaintiffs’ favor, 

indicates that the School’s administrators refused to address the situation directly or discipline 

the students involved because they did not take the verbal harassment seriously.  (See Pl. Ex. 2 

at 221-25).  Under the law of the First Circuit, “a school might be deliberately indifferent to ... 

sexual harassment of a student where it had notice of the sexual harassment, and either did 

nothing or failed to take additional reasonable measures after it learned that its initial remedies 

were ineffective.”  Porto v. Town of Tewksbury, 488 F.3d 67, 73-74 (1st Cir. 2007).  Accordingly, 

a rational factfinder could conclude that the defendants’ conduct was “clearly unreasonable in 

light of the known circumstances.”  Davis, 526 U.S. at 648, 119 S. Ct. at 1174.  See also 

Harrington v. City of Attleboro, 172 F. Supp. 3d 337, 345 (D. Mass. 2016) (finding that plaintiffs 

plausibly alleged deliberate indifference where harassment consisting of name calling by 

plaintiff’s peers continued over the course of four years).    
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The defendants assert that “rumors” of peer-to-peer name calling are insufficient to 

support a claim that the School was deliberately indifferent because “[t]he existence of 

‘rumors’ by their nature are nearly impossible to investigate,” and Ms. Dudley did investigate 

reports of specific instances where certain students referred to MG using anti-homosexual 

epithets.  (Def. Reply Mem. (Docket No. 59) at 4).  However, Ms. Grace testified that MG was 

reporting the incidents of verbal harassment and that School administrators did know the 

source of the rumors but were choosing not to address them.  (Pl. Ex. 2 at 222).  She further 

noted that there were actions the School could have taken, such as sending a letter to the 

parents or providing students with a course on discrimination.  (Id. at 222-23).  Because this 

testimony raises questions concerning the nature and extent of the School’s actual knowledge, 

as well as the reasonableness of its response, the issue of deliberate indifference should be 

resolved by a factfinder at trial.       

 This court also finds that when the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the 

plaintiffs, a rational factfinder could conclude that incidents involving Ms. Nissan and Ms. Reed 

contributed to the ongoing harassment of MG based on his sexual orientation and gender 

identity, and that the School’s failure to take some form of corrective action to address their 

conduct further supports the plaintiffs’ claim of deliberate indifference.  As MG informed his 

therapist when discussing the incident in which Ms. Nissan left the Gracefully Grayson book on 

his desk, “all the other kids were laughing and pointing at him and he felt like he just wanted to 

die.”  (Pl. Ex. 15 at 5).  MG’s mother also testified that the incident “broke him” and “was just 

too much” for MG to handle.  (Pl. Ex. 2 at 94-95).  Thus, when the incident is viewed in the 

context of the ongoing harassment against MG by his peers, a reasonable juror could find that 
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Ms. Nissan’s conduct, no matter how innocent or well intended, perpetuated an ongoing 

pattern of harassment against MG, and that the School’s decision to take no action beyond an 

investigation was unreasonable and constituted deliberate indifference to known acts of sexual 

harassment.     

 The circumstances relating to the bus incident support a similar conclusion.   As in the 

case of the Gracefully Grayson incident, there is no genuine dispute that MG was humiliated by 

Ms. Reed’s actions in initiating a conversation on the bus in which a fellow student said 

everyone thought MG was “loud and gay.”  (See Pl. Ex. 3 at 82).  While there is no evidence that 

Ms. Reed’s subsequent instruction to MG to “watch his flamboyant hands” and the way he talks 

was ever reported to Ms. Dudley or others in authority at the School, Ms. Dudley was aware 

that Ms. Reed had, at a minimum, continued to discuss the student’s comment with MG while 

the children were still on the bus.  (See Def. Ex B at 80-83).  A reasonable factfinder viewing this 

incident in light of the ongoing pattern of verbal harassment against MG could conclude that 

Ms. Reed’s actions exacerbated the problem, and that the School’s failure to take any 

corrective measures provides further support for a finding of deliberate indifference against the 

defendants.   

Finally, a rational factfinder could conclude that the School acted with deliberate 

indifference by refusing to transfer MG out of Ms. Freund’s sixth grade class despite Ms. 

Grace’s repeated requests for a transfer and Ms. Freund’s hostility toward MG.  The record 

demonstrates that MG had a troubled relationship with Ms. Freund, which resulted in frequent 

detentions and suspensions in addition to the nearly 100 Community Violations that Ms. 

Freund issued to MG throughout the year.  (See Pl. Ex. 16 at 11; Pl. Ex. 3 at 204-05).  It also 
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demonstrates that MG’s classroom behavior deteriorated to the point where MG’s personal 

therapist began to attend meetings with MG, his family and School officials to discuss a 

behavior support plan.  (Pl. Ex. 16 at 11; DF ¶¶ 57-58).  Although MG’s therapist expressed 

concern to School officials about “ongoing issues of bullying by other[ ] students” and the 

School’s failure to help MG, her notes indicate that MG’s classroom environment remained 

hostile and that he continued to experience harassment and bullying at school.  (Pl. Ex. 16 at 

11, 14, 18, 22-24).  A rational factfinder could conclude from these facts that the School’s 

failure to transfer MG out of Ms. Freund’s class caused him to endure a hostile educational 

environment that left him vulnerable to further harassment from his peers, and that the 

defendants’ conduct was “clearly unreasonable” in the context of ongoing harassment.  

Fitzgerald, 504 F.3d at 175.  Therefore, the plaintiffs have presented disputed issues of fact that 

are sufficient to defeat summary judgment on the issue of deliberate indifference.   

Existence of Harassment “Based on Sex” 

 The defendants also argue that they are entitled to summary judgment on the plaintiffs’ 

Title IX claims because the record contains no evidence of harassment “based on sex.”  (Def. 

Mem. at 10-14).  In particular, the defendants emphasize that mere teasing and name calling 

using objectionable epithets such as “gay” and “skittles” or phrases “tinged with sexual 

connotations” is not enough to support a claim under Title IX, and that the plaintiffs’ failure to 

present evidence of sexual harassment beyond taunting and name calling warrants judgment as 

a matter of law in their favor.  (Id. at 11-12, 14).  Although this issue is a close one, this court 

finds that the question whether MG suffered harassment based on sex should be determined at 

trial.   
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“Discrimination on the basis of sex is the sine qua non of a Title IX sexual harassment 

case[.]”  Frazier, 276 F.3d 52, 66.  Thus, “[t]o constitute sex-based discrimination under Title IX, 

the alleged name calling, comments and [any] physical assault of [MG] by [his] peers must have 

been because of [his] sex.”  Harrington, 172 F. Supp. 3d at 344 (internal citations omitted).  To 

satisfy this requirement, “[i]t is not enough to show ... that a student has been teased or called 

offensive names.”  Davis, 526 U.S. at 652, 119 S. Ct. at 1675 (quotations, citations and 

punctuation omitted).  Nevertheless, courts in this district have determined that “sex based 

discrimination can be based on sex stereotypes.”  Harrington, 172 F. Supp. 3d at 344, and cases 

cited.  Accordingly, harassment arising from “the perpetrators’ sex-based stereotypes of 

masculinity ... is actionable under Title IX.”  Snelling v. Fall Mountain Reg’l Sch. Dist., No. 99-

448-JD, 2001 WL 276975, at *4 (D.N.H. Mar. 21, 2001).   

 The evidence presented on summary judgment supports an inference that the verbal 

harassment MG endured arose from sexual stereotyping.  In other words, a rational factfinder 

could infer “that [MG], whether because of [his] physical appearance, mannerisms or sexual 

preference, did not conform to certain [male] stereotypes[,] rather than because of some other 

characteristic that is not protected by Title IX.”  Harrington, 172 F. Supp. 3d at 344.  Specifically, 

it is undisputed that MV called MG a “bitch” and a “girl” among other names, thereby 

suggesting that MG’s characteristics were being viewed as inconsistent with stereotypical male 

characteristics.  (See PR ¶ 29).  It is also undisputed that MG’s fellow students accused him of 

wanting to be transgender, and that Ms. Nissan thought MG would benefit by reading a book 

about a child who identifies as transgender.  (See Def. Ex. J).  In addition, the plaintiffs have 

presented evidence showing that Ms. Reed told MG “to watch his flamboyant hands” and “the 
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way he talks” during the incident on the bus, and that Mr. Cardwell accused MG of calling him 

“[s]weetie.”  (Pl. Ex. 2 at 84; Pl. Ex. 3 at 128).  These facts suggest that the taunting and name 

calling was “not simply ‘tinged with offensive sexual connotations,’” but “’constitute[d] 

discrimination because of sex.’”  Harrington, 172 F. Supp. 3d at 344 (internal quotations, 

punctuation and emphasis omitted) (quoting Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs., Inc., 523 

U.S. 75, 81, 118 S. Ct. 998, 140 L. Ed. 2d 201 (1998)).  Therefore, the defendants have not 

shown that they are entitled to relief on this basis and their motion for summary judgment 

should be denied with respect to the Title IX claims.  See Snelling, 2001 WL 276975, at *4 

(denying defendants’ motion for summary judgment where plaintiffs argued that name calling, 

taunting and abusive behavior “arose from the perpetrators’ sex-based stereotypes of 

masculinity” and could therefore support a claim under Title IX).    

C. Counts II-III: Claims for Violation of MG’s Right to Equal Protection 

In Counts II and III of their Complaint, the plaintiffs have asserted claims against the 

defendants, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (“§ 1983”), for violations of MG’s Fourteenth 

Amendment right to equal protection.  Specifically, in Count II, the plaintiffs claim that the 

defendants failed “to protect the minor Plaintiff MG and other members of protected class of 

students from the acts of sexual, sexual-orientation, gender-identity abuses included but not 

limited to verbal harassment because of sex, gender, sexual orientation, gender-identity bias 

and discrimination.”  (Compl. (Docket No. 1-2) ¶ 95).  In Count III, the plaintiffs are seeking to 

hold the defendants liable under a “class-of-one” equal protection theory, claiming that MG 

was “intentionally treated differently than other students similarly situated in his 4th, 5th and 6th 

grade classes.”  (Id.¶¶ 100-01).  The defendants argue that they are entitled to summary 
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judgment on these claims because the plaintiffs have failed to identify any similarly situated 

persons who were treated differently than MG, and because class-of-one equal protection 

claims are inapplicable to discretionary governmental decisions such as decisions regarding 

student discipline and investigations into school code of conduct violations.  (Def. Mem. at 15-

17).  Additionally, the defendants argue that under Section 1983, they cannot be held 

vicariously liable for the unconstitutional acts of the School’s officials or employees in the 

absence of an unconstitutional custom or policy, and the plaintiffs have failed to allege facts, 

much less present evidence, showing that any such custom or policy existed at the School.  (Id. 

at 18-19).  This court finds that the plaintiffs’ failure to identify similarly situated students who 

were treated differently than MG is fatal to their equal protection claims.  This court also finds 

that the plaintiffs are precluded from holding the named defendants liable under Section 1983 

for the actions of School officials and employees due to their failure to identify an 

unconstitutional custom or policy.  Accordingly, this court recommends that the defendants’ 

motion for summary judgment be allowed with respect to the equal protection claims.    

Failure to Identify Similarly Situated Students 

“The Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause prohibits a state from treating 

similarly situated persons differently because of their classification in a particular group.”  

Mulero-Carrillo v. Roman-Hernandez, 790 F.3d 99, 105-06 (1st Cir. 2015).  Thus, “[a]n equal 

protection claim requires ‘proof that (1) the person, compared with others similarly situated, 

was selectively treated; and (2) that such selective treatment was based on impermissible 

considerations such as race, religion, intent to inhibit or punish the exercise of constitutional 

rights, or malicious or bad faith intent to injure a person.’”  Freeman v. Town of Hudson, 714 
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F.3d 29, 38 (1st Cir. 2013) (quoting Rubinovitz v. Rogato, 60 F.3d 906, 909-10 (1st Cir. 1995)).   

“Typically, a plaintiff asserting an Equal Protection Clause violation ‘must identify his putative 

comparators’ to make out a threshold case of disparate treatment.’”  Harrington, 172 F. Supp. 

3d at 346 (alteration omitted) (quoting Doe v. Town of Stoughton, No. 12-cv-10467-PBS, 2013 

WL 6498959, at *2 n.3 (D. Mass. Dec. 10, 2013)).  Under an ordinary equal protection claim, 

“[t]he standard for determining whether individuals are similarly situated ‘is whether a prudent 

person, looking objectively at the incidents, would think them roughly equivalent and the 

protagonists similarly situated.’”  Pollard v. Georgetown Sch. Dist., 132 F. Supp. 3d 208, 223 (D. 

Mass. 2015) (quoting Barrington Cove Ltd. P’ship v. R.I. Hous. & Mortg. Fin. Corp., 246 F.3d 1, 7 

(1st Cir. 2001)).  Where the equal protection claim is based on a class-of-one theory, the 

“plaintiff bears the burden of showing that his comparators are similarly situated in all respects 

relevant to the challenged government action.”  Gianfrancesco v. Town of Wrentham, 712 F.3d 

634, 639-40 (1st Cir. 2013).  “While the applicable standard does not require that there be an 

‘[e]xact correlation,’ there must be sufficient proof on the relevant aspects of the comparison 

to warrant a reasonable inference of substantial similarity.”  Cordi-Allen v. Conlon, 494 F.3d 

245, 251 (1st Cir. 2007) (alteration in original) (quoting Tapalian v. Tusino, 377 F.3d 1, 6 (1st Cir. 

2004)).   

In the instant case, the plaintiffs have failed to identify, either in their Complaint or in 

their opposition to the motion for summary judgment, a group of similarly situated students.  

Although the plaintiffs make references in their Complaint to “other members of protected 

class of students” and “other students similarly situated in [MG’s] 4th, 5th and 6th grade 

classes,” they have not alleged any facts showing how MG was part of a protected class or 
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identifying how other students were similarly situated.  (See Compl. ¶¶ 92-105).  Similarly, the 

plaintiffs argue in opposition to the defendants’ summary judgment motion that MG was part 

of a “vulnerable population[ ]” of students “in the School Community” but they fail to describe 

the nature and scope of that population.  (Pl. Opp. Mem. at 22-23).  They also argue that the 

School treated MG differently than “other students” and MG’s “classmates” without any 

attempt to identify the students at issue or to describe how those students were similarly 

situated to MG.  (Id. at 23).  The plaintiffs’ failure to identify the putative comparators or to 

present facts establishing MG’s similarity to those comparators warrants a judgment in the 

defendants’ favor on both of the equal protection claims.  See Gianfrancesco, 712 F.3d at 640 

(dismissing class-of-one equal protection claim where plaintiff identified only one putative 

comparator and made no effort to establish how or why his business was similarly situated to 

that comparator “in any relevant way”); Pollard, 132 F. Supp. 3d at 223 (dismissing both 

ordinary equal protection claim and class-of-one equal protection claim where plaintiff alleged 

that school district “afforded [the minor plaintiff] a lower level of protection compared to 

‘other students,’” but never alleged “any facts to establish that these students are similarly 

situated.”).    

Failure to Present Evidence of Unconstitutional Custom or Policy 

Even if the plaintiffs had presented sufficient evidence of comparators to withstand 

summary judgment on their equal protection claims, those claims would still fail to pass muster 

under § 1983.  In this case, the plaintiffs are attempting to hold public entities liable for the 

alleged unconstitutional acts of their employees at Brooke East Boston.  However, “[t]here is no 

liability on a theory of a respondeat superior” in a case brought under § 1983.  Andrew S. ex rel. 
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Margaret S. v. Sch. Comm. of the Town of Greenfield, Mass., 59 F. Supp. 2d 237, 246 (D. Mass. 

1999).  “It is well-established that ‘only those individuals who participated in the conduct that 

deprived the plaintiff of his rights can be held liable.’”  Velez-Rivera v. Agosto-Alicea, 437 F.3d 

145, 156 (1st Cir. 2006) (quoting Cepero-Rivera v. Fagundo, 414 F.3d 124, 129 (1st Cir. 2005)).  

Where, as here, plaintiffs have brought suit against a supervisory entity instead of the 

individuals whose conduct allegedly caused the harm, the plaintiffs must show that the 

deprivation of constitutional rights “occurred as a product of a custom and policy” of the 

supervisory entity.  Andrew S. ex rel. Margaret S., 59 F. Supp. 2d at 246.   

No such showing has been made in the instant case.  The plaintiffs have neither alleged 

nor argued that the conduct at issue occurred pursuant to a custom or policy at Brooke East 

Boston.  (See Compl. at Counts II-III; Pl. Opp. Mem. at 25).  To the extent they argue that the so-

called “heavy hitters list” of students with disciplinary problems at the School was part of an 

official policy, they have not presented any facts to support such a claim.  (See Pl. Opp. Mem. at 

25).  Nor have they explained how MG’s inclusion on that list resulted in the deprivation of his 

constitutional rights.  (See id.).  Therefore, this court concludes that the defendants are entitled 

to summary judgment on Counts II and III of the Complaint for this reason as well.   

D. Count IV: Claims for Denial of Equal Rights 

In Count IV of the Complaint, the plaintiffs are seeking money damages from the 

defendants for violations of MG’s rights under the Equal Rights Amendment (“ERA”) to the 

Massachusetts Declaration of Rights and Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 76, § 5.  Specifically, the plaintiffs 

claim that Brooke East Boston, its Board of Trustees and the Brooke School Foundation, Inc. 

discriminated against MG on the basis of his perceived sexual orientation and gender identity, 
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thereby denying him the rights afforded to him under the ERA and Chapter 76 § 5.  The 

defendants argue that these claims are barred by the plaintiffs’ failure to comply with the 

applicable exhaustion requirement.  (Def. Mem. at 19-21).  They further argue that they are 

entitled to immunity from these claims pursuant to § 10(j) of the Massachusetts Tort Claims Act 

(“MTCA”).  (Id. at 21-22).  This court finds that summary judgment is warranted on the basis of 

immunity and that it is unnecessary to address the issue of exhaustion.   

Nature of the Plaintiffs’ Discrimination Claim 

The Massachusetts ERA provides in relevant part that “[e]quality under the law shall not 

be denied or abridged because of sex, race, color, creed, or national origin.”  Mass. Const. pt. 1, 

art. 1.  Chapter 76, § 5, which specifically prohibits discrimination in public education, provides 

in relevant part that “[n]o person shall be excluded from or discriminated against in admission 

to a public school of any town, or in obtaining the advantages, privileges and courses of study 

of such public school on account of race, color, sex, gender identity, religion, national origin or 

sexual orientation.”  Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 76, § 5.  The Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts 

(“SJC”) has assumed “that on this subject the statute equates with [the] ERA[.]”  Att’y Gen. v. 

Mass. Interscholastic Athletic Ass’n, Inc., 378 Mass. 342, 344 n.5, 393 N.E. 2d 284, 286 n.5 

(1979).  It has also held that Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 76, § 16, entitled, “Children excluded from 

school; remedies,” “provides the exclusive remedy for a pupil seeking damages in tort, when a 

member of the school committee, principal, or teacher unlawfully excludes a pupil from a 

public school” or otherwise violates Chapter 76, § 5.9  Doe v. D’Agostino, 367 F. Supp. 2d 157, 

9 Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 76, § 16 provides that, “[a]ny pupil who has attained age eighteen, or the parent, 
guardian or custodian of a pupil who has not attained said age of eighteen, who has been refused 
admission to or excluded from the public schools or from the advantages, privileges and courses of 
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178 (D. Mass. 2005) (concluding that plaintiffs seeking damages against teacher and school 

officials based on teacher’s alleged abuse of fifth grade student should have brought suit under 

section 16 of Chapter 76 rather than under section 5 of the statute).  Therefore, the issue 

before this court is whether, under Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 76, § 16, the plaintiffs may pursue 

claims for damages against the defendants.  This court concludes that the MTCA precludes 

them from doing so.  

Immunity Under Section 10(j) of the Massachusetts Tort Claims Act 

Pursuant to section 2 of the MTCA, “public employers are liable for negligent or 

wrongful acts or omissions of public employees acting within their scope of employment.”  

Cormier v. City of Lynn, 479 Mass. 35, 39, 91 N.E.3d 662, 665 (2018) (citing Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 

258, § 2).10  It further provides that “[t]he remedies provided by this chapter shall be exclusive 

of any other civil action or proceeding by reason of the same subject matter against the public 

employer[.]”  Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 258, § 2.  Accordingly, “the act is the exclusive remedy for 

bringing tort claims against the Commonwealth and its municipalities[.]” Magliacane v. City of 

Gardner, 483 Mass. 842, 850, 138 N.E. 3d 347, 356 (2020).  This would include a claim under 

Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 76, § 16.  See D’Agostino, 367 F. Supp. 2d at 178 (applying the MTCA to a 

study of such public schools shall on application be furnished by the school committee with a written 
statement of the reasons therefor, and thereafter, if the refusal to admit or exclusion was unlawful, such 
pupil may recover from the town or, in the case of such refusal or exclusion by a regional school district 
from the district, in tort and may examine any member of the school committee or any other officer of 
the town or regional school district upon interrogatories.”   
 
10 Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 258, § 2 provides, in relevant part, that, “[p]ublic employers shall be liable for 
injury or loss of property or personal injury or death caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission 
of any public employee while acting within the scope of his office or employment, in the same manner 
and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances[.]”   
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claim against a municipal defendant for violations of a student’s rights under Mass. Gen. Laws 

ch. 76, § 16).   

Section 10 of the MTCA, “sets forth several exceptions to [the] general waiver of 

sovereign immunity” provided under section 2 of the statute.  Cormier, 479 Mass. at 39, 91 N.E. 

2d at 665.  Section 10(j), the provision on which the defendants rely in this case, “bars ‘any 

claim based on an act or failure to act to prevent or diminish the harmful consequences of a 

condition or situation, including the violent or tortious conduct of a third person, which is not 

originally caused by the public employer or any other person acting on behalf of the public 

employer.’”  Id. at 39, 91 N.E. 3d at 665-66 (footnote omitted) (quoting Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 

258, § 10(j)). “In other words, § 10(j), which ‘was intended to provide some substantial measure 

of immunity from tort liability’ to public employers, eliminates government liability for a public 

employer’s act or failure to act to prevent harm from the wrongful conduct of a third party 

unless the condition or situation was ‘originally caused’ by the public employer.”  Id. at 40, 91 

N.E.3d at 666 (footnote omitted) (emphasis in original) (quoting Brum v. Dartmouth, 428 Mass. 

684, 692, 695, 704 N.E.2d 1147 (1999)).  “In the school bullying context, courts have dismissed 

claims against a school for its failure to prevent or address peer-to-peer bullying and 

harassment where the school cannot be considered the ‘original cause’ of plaintiff’s injury.”  

Harrington, 172 F. Supp. 3d at 349 (citing cases).   

The plaintiffs argue that the School’s decision not to investigate repeated instances of 

name calling and harassment was the “original cause” of MG’s harm in this case.  (Pl. Opp. 

Mem. at 26-27).  However, the SJC has “construed the ‘original cause’ language to mean an 

affirmative act (not a failure to act) by a public employer that creates the ‘condition or 
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situation’ that results in harm inflicted by a third party.”  Kent v. Commonwealth, 437 Mass. 

312, 318, 771 N.E.2d 770, 775 (2002) (quoting Brum v. Dartmouth, 428 Mass. 684, 695, 704 

N.E.2d 1147 (1999)).  Accord Cormier, 479 Mass. at 40, 91 N.E.3d at 666 (“To have ‘originally 

caused’ a condition or situation for the purposes of § 10(j), the public employer must have 

taken an affirmative action; a failure to act will not suffice.” (footnote omitted)).  Accordingly, 

the School’s failure to investigate or otherwise address reported incidents of harassment is 

insufficient to avoid the application of § 10(j).11  See D’Agostino, 367 F. Supp. 2d at 178 (finding 

that school’s failure to protect a student from the abusive acts of a teacher fell well within the 

scope of the immunity provided by section 10(j) of the MTCA); Cormier, 479 Mass. at 42, 91 

N.E.3d at 668 (ruling that plaintiffs’ effort “to hold [a] school liable for not acting in a manner 

that ensured [the student’s] safety” was precluded under § 10(j) of the MTCA).  Therefore, this 

court recommends that the defendants’ motion for summary judgment be allowed with respect 

to Count IV of the Complaint.   

E. Counts VI-VIII and XI-XII: Negligence Claims  

The plaintiffs’ Complaint includes five separate negligence-based claims, including 

claims by MG for ordinary negligence (Count VI) and negligent infliction of emotional distress 

(Count VII); a claim by Ms. Grace for negligent infliction of emotional distress (Count VIII); and 

claims by MG and Ms. Grace for negligent supervision of students (Count XI) and negligent 

retention of Ms. Freund as a teacher (Count XII).  The defendants contend that they are 

11 To the extent Ms. Nissan’s actions in leaving Gracefully Grayson on MG’s desk and Ms. Reed’s conduct 
in initiating a conversation on the bus in which one of MG’s peers referred to him as “gay” led to 
taunting and sexual harassment against MG by his peers, their actions “are too removed as a matter of 
law to be the original cause” of MG’s harm.  Cormier, 479 Mass. at 41, 91 N.E.3d at 667 (quoting Kent, 
437 Mass. at 319, 771 N.E.2d 770)).   
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immune from such claims under section 10(j) of the MTCA.  (Def. Mem. at 23-25).  They also 

argue that they are entitled to summary judgment on each of these Counts because there is no 

evidence that they breached a duty of care that was owed to the plaintiffs.  (Id. at 22-23).  This 

court recommends that the defendants’ motion be allowed on the basis of immunity.     

As described above, the MTCA governs tort claims brought against a public employer. 

See Magliacane, 483 Mass. at 850, 138 N.E. 3d at 356.  Therefore, all of the plaintiffs’ 

negligence claims are subject to the MTCA.  The plaintiffs’ arguments in their opposition to the 

motion for summary judgment make it clear that all of the plaintiffs’ negligence claims are 

based on the defendants’ alleged failure to take action, including their “decision not to 

investigate MG’s complaints” and other “reported instances of harassment[,]” their failure to 

“take reasonable steps to prevent the injury or damage caused by all the constant bullying of 

MG[,]” and their failure to remove MG from Ms. Freund’s sixth grade class despite Ms. Grace’s 

requests to do so.  (Pl. Opp. Mem. at 27-29).  Because those claims “originate from a failure to 

act” to prevent harm caused by third parties “rather than an affirmative act” by the public 

employer, the defendants are immune from liability on those claims pursuant to § 10(j) of the 

statute.  Cormier, 479 Mass. at 41, 91 N.E.3d at 667.     

The plaintiffs argue that the defendants forfeited their immunity under the MTCA by 

enabling or encouraging harassment and bullying of MG by students and staff.  (Pl. Opp. Mem. 

at 30).  However, they have not identified any specific facts showing that the School’s 

administrators took affirmative steps to promote, assist or otherwise encourage harassment 

against MG.  Instead, the plaintiffs repeat their assertion that the “School’s decision not to 

investigate MG’s complaint of sexual harassment, name-calling ... and threat of physical 
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violence created, enabled, or encouraged the harassing conduct[ ]” of students and staff.  (Id.).  

This is simply another effort to hold the defendants liable for failing to act.  “Such a claim is 

precluded under the [MTCA].”12  Cormier, 479 Mass. at 42, 91 N.E.3d at 668.  

F. Counts V, IX and X: Claims Regarding Anti-Bullying, Parental Notification 
and Reporting of Threats to Personal Safety of a Student______________ 
 

 The defendants’ next challenge addresses Counts V, IX and X of the Complaint.  These 

Counts consist of claims for violation of the Massachusetts anti-bullying statute (Count V), 

violation of Massachusetts’ parental notification law (Count IX) and failure to report bullying 

and harassment as required by regulations pertaining to reports of hazing by secondary schools 

(Count X).  The defendants have moved for summary judgment on each of these claims, but the 

plaintiffs have presented no opposing arguments.  (Def. Mem. at 25-29).  The plaintiffs’ “failure 

to put forth any argument in [their] opposition to defendants’ motion for summary judgment ... 

constitutes abandonment of any such claim[s].”  Montany v. Univ. of New England, 858 F.3d 34, 

41 (1st Cir. 2017).  Accordingly, these claims have been waived.   

In any event, even assuming the claims asserted in Counts V, IX and X would not be 

barred by § 10(j) of the MTCA, it appears none of those claims are actionable under the 

circumstances presented here.  In Count V, the plaintiffs seek to hold the defendants liable for 

violating the Massachusetts anti-bullying statute, Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 71, § 37O, on the 

grounds that the defendants “failed to prevent and intervene in stopping bullying targeted at 

MG by students and School staff.”  However, the statute expressly provides that “[n]othing in 

12 In light of this court’s determination that the defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law 
on the plaintiffs’ negligence claims pursuant to § 10(j) of the MTCA, it is not necessary to address at this 
stage the defendants’ assertion that they are also entitled to summary judgment because they did not 
breach a duty of care that was owed to the plaintiffs.   

Case 1:19-cv-10930-GAO   Document 64   Filed 05/25/22   Page 43 of 47

Add. 43



this section shall supersede or replace existing rights or remedies under any other general or 

special law, nor shall this section create a private right of action.”  Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 71, § 

37O(i) (emphasis added).  As at least one judge in another session of this court has concluded, 

“the Massachusetts Legislature expressly declined to create a private right of action.  Without 

this private right of action, there can be no standalone claim under this statute.”  Doe v. Holly, 

No. 20-10139-LTS, 2022 WL 1038012, at *5 (D. Mass. Feb. 25, 2022).   

Both the Parental Notification Law asserted in Count IX and the hazing regulations 

asserted in Count X are inapplicable to the facts of this case.  The Parental Notification Law, 

Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 71, § 32A provides in relevant part that “[e]very city, town, regional school 

district or vocational school district implementing or maintaining curriculum which primarily 

involves human sexual education or human sexuality issues shall adopt a policy ensuring 

parental/guardian notification.”  The plaintiffs claim that the defendants violated this statute by 

“subject[ing] MG[ ] to sexual education through the recommendation of Gracefully Grayson” 

without notifying Ms. Grace about the book ahead of time.  (Compl. at Count IX).  However, the 

record demonstrates that Gracefully Grayson was a book that was kept in the libraries of all the 

Brooke Charter Schools but was not part of a curriculum involving “human sexual education or 

human sexuality issues,” as required to trigger application of Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 71, § 32A.  

(See DF ¶ 37; PR ¶ 37).  Similarly, the regulations set forth in 603 C.M.R. § 33.00 et seq. govern 

“the content and frequency of reports secondary schools must file with the Board of Education 

regarding the distribution of copies of the law against hazing and the adoption of a disciplinary 

policy concerning the organizers of and participants in hazing activities.”  603 C.M.R. § 33.02 

(emphasis added).   The regulations specifically define “hazing” to mean: 
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any conduct or method of initiation into any student organization, whether on 
public or private property, which willfully or recklessly endangers the physical or 
mental health of any student or other person.  Such conduct shall include 
whipping, beating, branding, forced calisthenics, exposure to the weather, 
forced consumption of any food, liquor, beverage, drug or other substance, or 
any other brutal treatment or forced physical activity which is likely to adversely 
affect the physical health or safety of any such student or other person, or which 
subjects such student or other person to extreme mental stress, including 
extended deprivation of sleep or rest or extended isolation.   

 
603 C.M.R. § 33.03 (emphasis added).  However, it is undisputed that the alleged bullying and 

harassment at issue in the instant case was unrelated to the initiation of MG into a “student 

organization.”  Therefore, the regulations are irrelevant to the facts of this case.     

G. Counts XIII-XVIII: Claims for Loss of Consortium 

The plaintiffs’ final claims, which are set forth in Counts XIII-XVIII13 of the Complaint, 

consist of claims by MG, his mother and his four minor siblings for loss of consortium against 

the defendants.  In Count XIII and Counts XV-XVIII, the plaintiffs claim that MG and his siblings 

suffered a “loss of consortium, companion, society, services, and affection” of their mother, 

and in Count XIV, Ms. Grace claims that she suffered a “loss of consortium, companion, society, 

services, and affection of MG.”  “[A] loss of consortium claim cannot stand without an 

underlying tortious act” by the defendants.  Harrington, 172 F. Supp. 3d at 354.  See also 

Thomas v. Town of Chelmsford, 267 F. Supp. 3d 279, 315 (D. Mass. 2017) (“Consortium claims 

are derivative in nature, so it requires an underlying tortious act.”).  Where, as here, the 

plaintiffs cannot withstand summary judgment on any of their tort claims, their loss of 

13 Count XVIII, which consists of a claim by Minor Child MP against the defendants for loss of consortium, 
is mislabeled “Count XIV.”  
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consortium claims must fail as well.14  See D’Agostino, 367 F. Supp. 2d at 178-79 (where loss of 

consortium claims are “predicated on negligent acts that are immunized by the MTCA[,]” the 

“loss of consortium claims ... are also barred by the MTCA.”).  Accordingly, this court 

recommends that the defendants’ motion be allowed with respect to Counts XIII-XVIII of the 

Complaint.   

IV. CONCLUSION 

For all the reasons described above, this court recommends to the District Judge to 

whom this case is assigned, that the “Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment” (Docket No. 

44) be ALLOWED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.  Specifically, this court recommends that the 

motion be allowed with respect to Counts II-XVIII of the Complaint, but denied with respect to 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14 The plaintiffs’ Title IX claims cannot serve as a predicate for loss of consortium claims. See Harrington, 
172 F. Supp. 3d at 345 (denying motion to dismiss claim for hostile environment harassment under Title 
IX, but dismissing claims for loss of consortium on the grounds that, inter alia, the plaintiffs’ negligence 
claims had been dismissed and “a loss of consortium claim cannot stand without an underlying tortious 
act.”); Edsall v. Assumption Coll., 367 F. Supp. 2d 72, 85 (D. Mass. 2005) (finding it clear that federal civil 
rights laws do “not permit[ ] an ancillary cause of action for loss of consortium.” (quoting Tauric v. 
Polaroid Corp., 716 F. Supp. 672, 673 (D. Mass. 1989)).   
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the Title IX claims asserted in Count I.15   

       / s / Judith Gail Dein   
       Judith Gail Dein  
       United States Magistrate Judge 

 

 

15 The parties are hereby advised that under the provisions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 72, any party who objects to 
these proposed findings and recommendations must file a written objection thereto with the Clerk of 
this Court within 14 days after being served with this Report and Recommendation.  The written 
objections must specifically identify the portion of the proposed findings, recommendations or report to 
which the objection is made and the basis for such objections.  The parties are further advised that the 
United States Court of Appeals for this Circuit has repeatedly indicated that failure to comply with this 
Rule shall preclude further appellate review.  See Keating v. Sec'y of Health & Human Servs., 848 F.2d 
271, 275 (1st Cir. 1988); United States v. Valencia-Copete, 792 F.2d 4, 6 (1st Cir. 1986); Park Motor Mart, 
Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 616 F.2d 603, 604-05 (1st Cir. 1980); United States v. Vega, 678 F.2d 376, 378-79 
(1st Cir. 1982); Scott v. Schweiker, 702 F.2d 13, 14 (1st Cir. 1983); see also Thomas v. Arn, 474 U.S. 140, 
153-54, 106 S. Ct. 466, 474, 88 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1985). Accord Phinney v. Wentworth Douglas Hosp., 199 
F.3d 1, 3-4 (1st Cir. 1999); Henley Drilling Co. v. McGee, 36 F.3d 143, 150-51 (1st Cir. 1994); Santiago v. 
Canon U.S.A., Inc., 138 F.3d 1, 4 (1st Cir. 1998). 
  

Case 1:19-cv-10930-GAO   Document 64   Filed 05/25/22   Page 47 of 47

Add. 47

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000600&cite=USFRCPR72&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1988071656&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_275&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_275
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1988071656&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_275&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_275
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1986127668&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_6&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_6
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1980106999&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_604&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_604
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1980106999&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_604&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_604
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1982123249&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_378&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_378
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1982123249&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_378&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_378
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1983111750&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_14&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_14
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1985158797&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_474&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_708_474
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1985158797&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_474&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_708_474
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999265217&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_3&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_3
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999265217&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_3&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_3
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1994191761&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_150&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_150
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998054144&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_4&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_4
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998054144&pubNum=0000506&originatingDoc=Id2a8dea093ef11e98eaef725d418138a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_506_4&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_4


UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 
CIVIL ACTION NO. 19-10930-GAO 

 
NATASHA GRACE, MINOR CHILD MG, MINOR CHILD MG2, MINOR CHILD MG3, 

MINOR CHILD AG, and MINOR CHILD MP, 
Plaintiffs, 

 
v. 
 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES, BROOKE EAST BOSTON and 
BROOKE SCHOOL FOUNDATION, INC., 

Defendants. 
 
 

ORDER ADOPTING IN PART AND REJECTING IN PART 
REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

August 30, 2022 
 

O’TOOLE, D.J.  

The magistrate judge to whom this matter was referred has issued a Report and 

Recommendation (“R & R”) recommending that the defendants’ motion for summary judgment 

(dkt. no. 44) be granted as to all counts except as to Count I, which asserts claims arising under 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. The defendants have 

filed a limited objection to the R & R insofar as it recommends denial of judgment on Count I.1 

No other objections have been received.  

Having reviewed the relevant pleadings and submissions, including the defendants’ 

objection to the R & R, I agree with and adopt the magistrate judge’s conclusions as to Counts II 

through XVIII. However, I would also grant summary judgment in favor of the defendants on 

Count I because, even if the evidentiary objections made by the defendants were resolved in favor 

1 The plaintiffs did not timely respond to the objection and subsequently filed a motion for leave 
to file a late response (dkt. no. 66), which the defendants oppose. The plaintiffs’ motion is 
DENIED. 
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of the plaintiffs, the plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate a triable issue as to deliberate 

indifference, an essential element of a Title IX claim. 

Under Title IX, a defendant’s “deliberate indifference” may be established if its response—

or lack of response—to alleged incidents of harassment is “clearly unreasonable in light of the 

known circumstances.” Fitzgerald v. Barnstable Sch. Comm., 504 F.3d 165, 171 (1st Cir. 2007), 

rev’d on other grounds, 555 U.S. 246 (2009) (quoting Davis ex rel. LaShonda D. v. Monroe Cnty. 

Bd. Of Educ., 526 U.S. 629, 648 (1999)). The statute “does not require educational institutions to 

take heroic measures, to perform flawless investigations, to craft perfect solutions, or to adopt 

strategies advocated by parents.” Id. at 174. It is sufficient for it to take “timely and reasonable 

measures to end the harassment.” Wills v. Brown Univ., 184 F.3d 20, 26 (1st Cir. 1999). 

The summary judgment record demonstrates that the institution took timely and plausibly 

reasonable measures to investigate and end the claimed harassment. The factual record shows that 

administrators were in frequent communication with the plaintiff M.G.’s mother. School officials 

met with her often. They conducted a variety of investigations in response to reported incidents 

adverse to M.G. While the school’s responses may not have been perfect, the record does not 

support a conclusion that the administrators were so unresponsive to the plaintiffs’ specific 

complaints as to amount to deliberate indifference to those complaints. That the school 

administrators might have done more or responded differently than they did does not establish 

indifference. The Title IX cause of action is not a mechanism for judicial review of the wisdom or 

prudence of the institution’s response to a plaintiff’s grievances. See, e.g., Fitzgerald, 504 F.3d at 

175 (“[C]ourts have no roving writ to second-guess an educational institution’s choices from 

within a universe of plausible investigative procedures.”); Porto v. Town of Tewksbury, 488 F.3d 

67, 73 (1st Cir. 2007) (“[A] claim that the school system could or should have done more is 
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insufficient to establish deliberate indifference . . . .”). Rather, the Title IX cause of action permits 

a remedy against an institution that violates the statute’s requirements through action—or 

inaction—so inadequate that the institutional response effectively causes the student to experience 

unlawful harassment. See Davis, 526 U.S. at 644–46. The factual record in this case does not 

plausibly support the claim that the defendants were deliberately indifferent to the plaintiffs’ 

complaints in the manner or to the degree required to support liability. No reasonable jury could 

find on the factual record in this case that the defendants’ response to reported incidents of sex-

based harassment was clearly unreasonable.  

Accordingly, I DECLINE TO ADOPT the magistrate judge’s recommendation as to Count 

I and do ADOPT it as to the remaining counts. The defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment 

(dkt. no. 44) is GRANTED in full. Judgment shall be entered in favor of the defendants on all 

counts.  

It is SO ORDERED. 

       /s/ George A. O’Toole, Jr. 
       United States District Judge 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

 Natasha Grace et al
Plaintiff(s)

v. CIVIL ACTION NO. 19-cv-10930-GAO

 Board of Trustees, Brooke East Boston et al
Defendant(s)

JUDGMENT IN A CIVIL CASE

, U.S.D.J

IT IS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED: Pursuant to the ORDER ADOPTING IN 
PART AND REJECTING IN PART REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION of 
this court on 08/30/2022, Summary Judgment is GRANTED for the
Defendant . This action is hereby dismissed.

ROBERT M. FARRELL
CLERK OF COURT

Dated:  08/30/2022
By /s/ Flaviana de Oliveira

Deputy Clerk
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